

# The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and The Mental Capacity Act 2005 Policy

### Solent NHS Trust policies can only be considered to be valid and up-to-date if viewed on the intranet. Please visit the intranet for the latest version.

Purpose of Agreement	To enable the organisation to be compliant with its requirements under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
Document Type	X Policy SOP Guideline
Reference Number	Solent/Policy/CLS/02
Version	V5
Name of Approving Committees/Groups	Policy Steering Group Clinical Executive Group
Operational Date	March 2021
Document Review Date	March 2024
Document Sponsor (Name & Job Title)	Chief Nurse
Document Manager (Name & Job Title) Mental Capacity Act Lead	
Document developed in consultation with	This policy has been consulted on with the Mental Capacity Act /Deprivation of Liberty Goverannce Group
Intranet Location	Business Zone > Policies, SOPs and Clinical Guidelines
Website Location	Publication Scheme
Keywords (for website/intranet uploading)	Mental capacity, best interest, decision maker, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards, lasting power of attorney, Court of Protection, Policy, CLS02

#### **Amendments Summary:**

Amend No	Issued	Paragraph	Subject	Action Date
1	18/09/2017	Para 3.2.7	A requirement to share information about what the person needs to understand has been introduced.	18/09/2017
2	18/09/2017	3.2.9 and 3.2.15	A new standard has been introduced to require a full recording of capacity assessments in relation to care plans.	18/09/2017
3	18/09/2017	3.3.3	The guidance has been amended to emphasise the need to understand the world through the person's point of view when assessing best interest.	18/09/2017
4	18/09/2017	3.13.23	The Mental Health Act Administration team are now taking on the oversight of the DoLs process and informing the CQC.	18/09/2017
5	12/10/2017	3.6	Advanced Decisions changed to Advance Decision. This was a typing error	12/10/2017
6	12/10/2017		Reference to Royal College of General Practitioners Mental Capacity Act (MCA) Toolkit for Adults in England and Wales 2011 included after feedback from GPs.	12/10/2017

### **Review Log:**

Include details of when the document was last reviewed:

Version Number	Review Date	Lead Name	Ratification Process	Notes
3	18/09/2017	Richard Murphy		
4	April 2020	Elliot Wylde	Approved as part of the Covid-19 review of policies	Insertion of point 3.13.26 regarding admission to hospital of 16/17 year olds, update to new EIA template, addition of overarching Emergency Statement and expiry extended to March 2021.
5	January 2021	Elliot Wylde	Review	Some grammar corrections and Appendix 1+2 have been changed to HCC toolkit in line with the SAB recommendations.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 2 of 65

#### **SUMMARY OF POLICY**

This policy ensures that Solent NHS Trust has implemented processes and standards to ensure compliance with the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. The policy requires staff to assess a person's mental capacity to make a particular decision in circumstances in which there are concerns about the person's ability to make the decision at the time it needs to be made. The Mental Capacity Act sets out how a person's capacity to make a decision must be assessed and this is described in the policy. If a person lacks capacity to make a decision then the decision is made for them by an attorney appointed under a lasting power of attorney or enduring power of attorney, by a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection or in line with a Court of Protection decision. If none of these exist then the decision from the person's point of view and make a decision that is right for them as an individual person. In carrying out any intervention the five guiding principles of the Act must be followed:

- 1. A person must be assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity.
- 2. A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practicable steps to help him to do so have been taken without success.
- 3. A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision merely because he makes an unwise decision.
- 4. An act done or decision made, under this Act for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done, or made, in his best interests.
- 5. Before the act is done, or the decision is made, regard must be had to whether the purpose for which it is needed can be as effectively achieved in a way that is less restrictive of the person's rights and freedom of action.

If there is an unresolved dispute about a significant decision then the guidance in the policy should be followed and if it cannot be resolved then advice should be sought about whether an application to the Court of Protection is required.

If the intervention involves any form of restriction then it can only be carried out if it is necessary to prevent harm and it is a proportionate response to the likeliness of the harm occurring and the severity of the harm it is intended to prevent. If the restrictions amount to a deprivation of liberty then this must be authorised by a Depriavtaion of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) authorisation, under the Mental Health Actor via an application to the court of protection, depending on the situation

Each service must have a clear protocol that sets out where and when the following are recorded and checked:

- 1. capacity assessments,
- 2. best interest decisions
- 3. lasting powers of attorney or enduring power of attorneys
- 4. the existence of a court appointed deputy or a Court of Protection decision, and
- 5. any advance decisions to refuse treatment or advanced statements of wishes and feelings.

The key features are summarised in the table below.

Role/ Issue	Responsibilities	In what situation
Decision	They are responsible for	When Solent NHS Trust is the lead
maker for	assessing capacity and best	agency for a particular intervention/
'important decisions'	interests in relation to the specific issue at the specific time. This must be recorded using the form in this policy and	decision the consultant with responsibility for that aspect of the care will usually be the decision maker. However, if it is not the

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 3 of 65

Best Interest	appropriately recorded on the electronic system. Those involved in carrying out the decision retain responsibility to do so in the best interests of the person and to raise concerns if they believe the person has regained capacity. The best interest must be	consultant it must be a registered practitioner. When Solent NHS Trust is not the lead agency they will not normally be the decision maker when the decision is consent to medical treatment.
	determined by the correct process. This will depend on the type of decision. It may be a 'simple decision', an 'important decision' or need a best interest meeting.	are carried out with those who lack capacity to decide on the specific issue at the time.
Independent Mental Health Advocate (IMCA)	The care team is responsible for referring to the IMCA service. The IMCA can see relevant records. The consultant in charge of the care is responsible for deciding what is relevant. The IMCA should be informed if they are seeing third party information that the service user is unaware of.	Refer when the service user is 'unbefriended' and a decision about serious medical treatment or longer term accommodation arranged by NHS is being considered. There is a discretionary power to refer in safeguarding situations or for care reviews.
Review of capacity/ best interest	Capacity assessments are time and decision specific. However, there may be an ongoing condition affecting capacity. Care teams must ensure that the assessments they act on remain valid.	<ul> <li>There is no set time scale to review assessments as this will depend on the circumstances of the case. However, capacity should be reviewed:</li> <li>Whenever a care plan is being developed or reviewed,</li> <li>if there is a significant change in clinical presentation,</li> <li>at other relevant stages of the care planning process (specific teams will need to decide on this for their area of work), and</li> <li>as particular decisions need to be made.</li> </ul>
Acts taken on behalf of a person who lacks capacity	To ensure they are in the best interest of the patient.	All staff in all interventions. Staff members need to ensure that in situations where restraint is needed they do not go beyond the limits of section 5 and follow the restraint/ observation policies connected to their areas of work.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 4 of 65

Finances and assets of a person who lacks capacity	Each team must have their own guidelines for when a person's money is spent on their behalf for necessary goods. Clear records and care planning must be kept. It should be considered if an informal carer is better placed to undertake the role.	Access to a person's property or assets can only be authorised by a lasting power of attorney, an order of the Court of Protection or, where a person's income is social security benefits, appointeeship. The Client Affairs Team and Portsmouth City Council can be contacted for more information (02392688199). Teams that are integrated with Portsmouth City Council can refer into the Client Affairs Team or patient's residing in Southampton the adult social care
		team should be contacted on 02380
Lasting power of attorney, Advance decisions, court deputies and decisions of the Court of Protection.	Where these exist the care team is responsible to ensure they are recorded in the person's file. Where there are concerns a deputy or attorney is not acting in line with the MCA Code of Practice then the Office of The Public Guardian should be consulted and safeguarding policies followed.	833003. For situations where they are applicable staff members need to ensure they are valid and if so follow them. For doubts about lasting powers of attorney the Office of the Public Guardian can be contacted to verify its validity.
Disputes and the Court of Protection	When there is a dispute that cannot be resolved then consideration should be given to approaching the Court of Protection.	Some situations are so serious an application to the Court of Protection should always be made. In other situations the processes outlined on p23 should be followed
Ill treatment and wilful neglect of a person who lacks	All staff must be aware of the offence.	Safeguarding policies to be followed where there are concerns for vulnerable adults.
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).	All staff must be aware of and follow this policy, The DoLS Code of Practice and Trust policies relating to restraint and care planning. All staff must ensure any restrictions on a person who lacks capacity are as less restrictive as possible, in the person's best interest, necessary and proportionate.	In situations in which a person lacks capacity to consent to their care arrangements, are under continuous supervision and control and not free to leave then they are deprived of their liberty. This must be authorised. This will be by the Mental Health Act, DoLS procedures or the Courts depending on the situation.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item	n Contents	
1	INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE	8
2	SCOPE AND DEFINITION	9
3	PROCESS/REQUIREMENTS	10
	3.1 Decisions that cannot be made under the Act	10
	3.2 Assessing Capacity	11
	3.3 Best Interest	14
	3.4 Protection from Liability under section 5 of The Act and Restraint	19
	3.5 Section 5 and the Management of Money for those who Lack Capacity	20
	3.6 Advance Decisions	20
	3.7 Lasting Power Attorney (LPA) and Enduring Power of Attorney (EPA)	20
	3.8 Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCA)	22
	3.9 Dealing with Disputes	23
	3.10 The Court of Protection	24
	3.11 Office of The Public Guardian	25
	3.12 III Treatment and Wilful Neglect of a Person who Lacks Capacity	25
	3.13 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)	25
	3.14 Reporting Risk events	32
4	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	33
	4.1 Staff Responsibilities	33
	4.2 Internal documentation system	33
5	TRAINING	33
6	EQUALITY & DIVERSITY AND MENTAL CAPACITY ACT	34
7	SUCCESS CRITERIA / MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE DOCUMENT	34
8	REVIEW	34
9	REFERENCES AND LINKS TO OTHER DOCUMENTS	34

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 6 of 65

10	<u>Appendixes:</u>		
	Appendix 1	HCC MCA toolkit- Assessment of Capacity	36
	Appendix 2	HCC MCA toolkit- Best Interests Decision Making	40
	Appendix 3	Referring to an IMCA	46
	Appendix 4	Guidance on Establishing a Best Interest Meeting	47
	Appendix 5	DoLS Poster	56
	Appendix 6	Auditing Standard	57
	Appendix 7	Equality and HR and MCA Impact Assessment	62

# The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and The Mental Capacity Act 2005 Policy

#### Covid 19 expectation:

Staff are expected to adhere to the processes and procedures detailed within this policy. During times of national or 'Gold Command' emergency Solent NHS Trust may seek to suspend elements of this policy in order to appropriately respond to a critical situation and enable staff to continue to work in a way that protects patient and staff safety. In such cases Quality Impact Assessments will be completed for process changes being put in place across the organisation. The QIA will require sign off by the Solent NHS Ethics Panel, which is convened at such times, and is chaired by either the Chief Nurse or Chief Medical Officer. Once approved at Ethics Panel, these changes will be logged and the names/numbers of policies affected will be noted in the Trust wide risk associated with emergency situations. This sign off should include a start date for amendments and a review date or step down date when normal policy and procedures will resume.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

- 1.1 This policy sets the standards staff members are expected to follow in implementing the principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the guidance in the Act's Code of Practice. The policy is particularly relevant when staff members, including Associate Hospital Managers and Non- Executive Directors are working with service users who may lack capacity to make particular decisions at the time or in the future.
- 1.2 Nothing in the Mental Capacity Act, taken alone, gives staff member's powers to coerce, compel or control families in their care of their family members. Their duty is to work in partnership to promote the autonomy, safety and best interest of those who lack capacity. In many situations the family members will be the decision makers and staff member's role will be to support them.
- 1.3 The policy aims to promote the dignity, capacity, choice and participation of service users who may lack capacity to make particular decisions at some point. It is expected that this is an approach taken throughout the planning and delivery of care. Specifically, all staff should consider how their intervention will impact upon the capacity and participation of the service user. In doing so, staff will be expected to appropriately encourage the participation of carers and family and give a thorough consideration of any safeguarding issues in line with the Trust's Safeguarding Policies.
- 1.4 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) requires that organisations identify when people lack, or are thought to lack, mental capacity in making decisions in order that special measures can be employed to assist them. All Solent NHS Trust staff that come into contact with patients, their relatives and carers and the public must be aware of the requirements of the Act and their responsibilities under statute.
- 1.5 The Act defines five statutory principles. These are:
  - A person must be assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity.
  - A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practicable steps to help him to do so have been taken without success.
  - A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision merely because he makes an unwise decision.
  - An act done, or decision made, under this Act for or on behalf of a person who lacks

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 8 of 65 capacity must be done, or made, in his best interests.

- Before the act is done, or the decision is made, regard must be had to whether the purpose for which it is needed can be as effectively achieved in a way that is less restrictive of the person's rights and freedom of action.
- 1.6 These principles must be clearly demonstrated when people who lack capacity need to have decisions made on their behalf. All actions taken on behalf of those who lack capacity to make a particular decision must be consistent with the principles. This includes the process of assessing capacity. This policy supports these principles and clarifies how they will be reflected in practice.

### 1.7 This policy will:

- Summarise the purpose of the Act;
- Define patient groups to whom this Act pertains;
- Define the standard of assessment of mental capacity and best interests expected in Solent NHS Trust;
- Describe how a capacity and best interests assessment are to be recorded;
- Signpost to guidance on the management of finances for someone who lacks capacity;
- Describe the effects of advance decisions, Lasting Powers of Attorney, Enduring Power of Attorney, and court appointed deputies on assessments of best interest;
- Describe the Role of Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCAs) and define SOLENT NHS TRUST staff member's duty to refer;
- Set out the process for resolving disputes over capacity or best interest assessments and the role of the Court of Protection and The Office of The Public Guardian;
- Describe the new criminal offence of ill treatment or wilful neglect of a person who lacks capacity to make relevant decisions (Section 44 of the Act);
- Describe the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards, and the responsibilities and duties of SOLENT NHS TRUST staff with regard to these.

### 2. SCOPE & DEFINITIONS

- 2.1 This document applies to all directly and indirectly employed staff members, including Associate Hospital Managers and Non- Executive Directors within Solent NHS Trust and other persons working within the organisation in line with Equal Opportunities Document. This document is also recommended to Independent Contractors as good practice.
- 2.2 This guideline applies to all Solent NHS Trust staff. This is based on the assumption that all staff will potentially come into contact with people who lack, or are thought to lack, capacity. It applies to any patient where there are concerns about their capacity, particularly with regard to an important decision (see definition below) whilst in the care of any Solent NHS Trust service.

# 2.3 People may lack capacity with regard to specific decisions.

- The following people may lack capacity:
- People with a learning disability
- People with a cognitive impairment (e.g. with dementia)
- People with a brain injury
- People under the influence of drugs or alcohol
- People with a delirium (acute confused state)
- People with a mental health problem

This list is not exclusive and practitioners should always be alert to others who may lack capacity, whether temporarily or due to a more chronic underlying cause.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 9 of 65

# 2.4 Limitations of the Act with regard to Age

- 2.4.1 Within the Code of Practice for the Act, "children" refers to people under the age of 16 and "young people" refers to people aged 16-17.
- 2.4.2 The Act does not apply to children under the age of 16, although there are two exceptions:
  - The Court of Protection can make decisions or appoint a deputy to make decisions regarding a child's property or finances where the child lacks capacity to make related decisions and is likely to still lack capacity at 18.
  - Offences of ill treatment or wilful neglect of a person who lacks capacity can apply to victims younger than 16.
- 2.4.3 Most of the Act applies to young people aged 16-17 years who lack capacity to make specific decisions. There are four exceptions:
  - Only people aged 18 and over can make lasting powers of attorney.
  - Only people aged 18 and over can make an advance decision to refuse specific medical treatments.
  - The Court of Protection may only make a statutory will for people aged 18 and over.
  - The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards only applies to people aged 18 and over.
- 2.4.4 Where there are disagreements concerning care, treatment or welfare of a young person aged 16-17 who lacks capacity to make related decisions, the case may be heard in the Court of Protection or the family courts depending on circumstances. Cases can be transferred between the courts.

# 3. **PROCESS/REQUIREMENTS**

### 3.1 Decisions that cannot be made under the Act

Sections 27–29 and 62 of the Act set out the specific decisions which can never be made or actions or which can never be carried out under the Act, whether by family members, carers, professionals, attorneys or the Court of Protection. These are summarised below.

- 3.1.1 **Decisions concerning family relationships (section 27):** Nothing in the Act permits a decision to be made on someone else's behalf on any of the following matters:
  - consenting to marriage or a civil partnership
  - consenting to have sexual relations
  - consenting to a decree of divorce on the basis of two years' separation
  - consenting to the dissolution of a civil partnership
  - consenting to a child being placed for adoption or the making of an adoption order
  - discharging parental responsibility for a child in matters not relating to the child's property, or
  - giving consent under the Human Fertilisation and Embryology Act 1990.

However, a person can still be assessed to lack capacity in relation to making specific decisions in relation to these issues. What cannot be done is to make a best interest decision in relation to these issues or for a deputy or attorney to consent on behalf of a person who lacks capacity in relation to one of these issues.

3.1.2 **Mental Health Act matters (section 28):** Where a person who lacks capacity to consent is currently detained and being treated under Part 4 of the Mental Health Act 1983, nothing in

the Act authorises anyone to:

- give the person treatment for mental disorder, or
- consent to the person being given treatment for mental disorder.
- 3.1.3 **Voting rights (section 29):** Nothing in the Act permits a person to be prevented from voting on the grounds of a lack of capacity.
- 3.1.4 **Unlawful killing or assisting suicide (section 62):** For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the Act is to be taken to affect the law relating to murder, manslaughter or assisting suicide.

### 3.2 Assessing Capacity

- 3.2.1 Chapter 4 of The Code of Practice gives extensive guidance on assessing capacity and should be read in conjunction with this policy. Practioners may find the Hampshire Toolkit for Accessing Capacity (Appendix 1+2) helpful
- 3.2.2 When assessing a person's capacity the five principles of the Act, stated above, must be followed. Particular regard should be given to a person's communication needs, and the impact of the people involved in the assessment, the time of day it is undertaken and the environment in which a person is assessed.
- 3.2.3 A person's capacity must be assessed specifically in terms of their capacity to make a particular decision at the time it needs to be made.
- 3.2.4 It must not be assumed that a person lacks capacity because they make an unwise decision.
- 3.2.5 A person's capacity must not be judged simply on the basis of their age, appearance, condition or an aspect of their behaviour. The Act sets out a 2 stage capacity test:
  - Stage 1: Does the person have an impairment of, or a disturbance in the functioning of, their mind or brain?
  - Stage 2: Does the impairment or disturbance mean that the person is unable to make a specific decision when they need to?
- 3.2.6 A person is unable to make a decision if they cannot:
  - understand information about the decision to be made (the Act calls this 'relevant information')
  - retain that information in their mind
  - use or weigh that information as part of the decision-making process, or
  - communicate their decision (by talking, using sign language or any other means). See section 3(1) of the Act.
- 3.2.7 A person can only be said to lack capacity if a clear link or nexus is established between the impairment of their mind or brain and the inability to do 1 to 3 of the above. The exception to this is if a person lacks capacity because they are unable to communicate their decision. A person can also only be said to lack capacity for a particular decision if practicable steps cannot be taken to promote their capacity. This includes helping them to understand the decision. In this regard the assessor must first be clear what the decision is, what information the person needs to understand and how they are going to share this information with the person in a meaningful way. A person's understanding should only be assessed once the information they need to understand is shared with them. A capacity assessment is an intervention to promote capacity wherever possible and not a test to find pathology.

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 11 of 65

- 3.2.8 A person's level of understanding of the issues should reflect the significance of the decisions and the risks associated with it. Assessors will need to ensure they get the correct balance between not placing the bar too high and expecting a level of understanding that the average person would not have, whilst, at the same time guarding against superficiality in their assessment of the person's understanding. To this end it will be helpful if, before undertaking the assessment, they decide exactly what it is the person needs to understand.
- 3.2.9 For 'important decisions' (see below), which includes consent to care plans, the lead professional directing that aspect of the patient's care is responsible for assuring the capacity of the service user is assessed and recorded on the electronic system or on the form in Appendix 1, by following the process chart. A person's capacity only needs to be assessed when there are concerns regarding their capacity to make the decision in question. Who assesses the capacity will be the person best placed to take on the role and will depend on what the decision is about. Normally this will be the lead professional directing that aspect of the patient's care. Although in some circumstances another member of staff will be better placed or have the necessary expertise. Only registered practitioners can undertake these assessments for important decisions. For complex medical or welfare decisions these will usually be taken in the context of a multi-disciplinary team. However, it is important to be clear who the lead professional directing the capacity assessment is appropriately undertaken and recorded.
- 3.2.10 If a person who lacks capacity to consent is admitted to a Solent NHS Trust inpatient unit, in their best interest, the form in APPENDIX 2, will be completed. Consideration must be given as to whether the patient is deprived of their liberty. A person's capacity to consent to aspects of their care, best interest decisions and consideration as to whether there is a deprivation of liberty or not must be kept under regular review.
- 3.2.11 Where Solent NHS Trust is not the lead agency for that particular component of the intervention they will not normally be the decision maker. The nominated person from the agency directing the intervention retains over all responsibility for the capacity assessment, even if assisted by a psychiatrist or psychologist.

### 3.2.12 Vulnerable Adults and Capacity

The capacity assessment is an assessment of a person's cognitive functioning in relation to a specific decision at a specific time. Being vulnerable, therefore, does not in itself mean that a person lacks capacity to make choices. If a person has capacity they are entitled to make unwise choices. However, where a person's vulnerability is in part due to difficulties they have with cognitive functioning it may mean that they lack capacity with regard to an issue as well as being vulnerable. It may also be that a stressful situation affects their impairment and a person's capacity to make choices and means in these situations they lack capacity.

Furthermore, having capacity is only one component that makes a decision valid. The other is that it is freely made. Therefore undue influence can make a decision invalid. This includes the influence of professionals and non-professionals.

It is important for professionals to consider what steps they can take to promote a person's decision making capacity. This includes considering the effect of their and other's influence and a patient's social situation. This includes ensuring any safeguarding issues are appropriately addressed.

Even where a person has capacity to make decisions it may be that they can be empowered to make more autonomous decisions by helping them to develop self- esteem, be more assertive in relationships, have access to independent support and advice, and have their own access to

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 12 of 65

resources. This is particularly important where vulnerable adults may be in abusive relationships.

However, it is always essential to determine whether a person has capacity by applying the statutory test to a specific issue at a specific time. If they have capacity for that decision then they have the right to choose. However, if a person lacks capacity in relation to the specific issue then the issue needs to be decided in their best interest.

#### 3.2.13 Fluctuating Capacity

Some people have fluctuating capacity – they have a problem or condition that gets worse occasionally and affects their ability to make decisions. Temporary factors may also affect someone's ability to make decisions.

In such cases, it is good practice to establish, while the person has capacity, their views about any clinical intervention that may be necessary during a period of anticipated incapacity, and to record these views. The person may wish to make an advance decision to refuse treatment or a statement of their preferences and wishes. It should also be considered whether the person is likely to regain capacity and, if so, whether the decision can wait. The statutory principle that all practical steps must be taken to enable the person to make their own decision should be followed. Each service should have a clear process that sets out where advance decisions to refuse treatment and advance statements of wishes and feelings are recorded.

#### 3.2.14 Ongoing Conditions that may affect Capacity

Generally, capacity assessments should be related to a specific decision. But there may be people with an ongoing condition that affects their ability to make certain decisions or that may affect other decisions in their life. One decision on its own may make sense, but may give cause for concern when considered alongside others. This concern may trigger a capacity assessment. However the assessor should be clear that the assessment is of the person's cognitive functioning at that time in relation to the decision being considered and not based solely on the decision the person makes: the process the person went through in reaching the decision is what is being assessed.

Where the underlying reason or condition why someone experiences an impairment of the mind or brain is of a long term nature, the nature of this and the impact of it on decision making should be thoroughly assessed. This should help inform what steps can be taken to promote capacity and highlight factors to be considered when assessing capacity in relation to a specific issue at a specific time.

It is important to review capacity from time to time, as people can improve their decisionmaking capabilities. In particular, someone with an ongoing condition may become able to make some, if not all, decisions. Some people (for example, people with learning disabilities) will learn new skills throughout their life, improving their capacity to make certain decisions.

Although there is no specific time limit on when to review capacity in relation to a decision, good practice would require reviewing capacity regularly. Capacity should always be reviewed:

- whenever a care plan is being developed or reviewed,
- if there is a significant change in clinical presentation,
- at other relevant stages of the care planning process (specific teams will need to decide on this for their area of work), and
- as particular decisions need to be made.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 13 of 65

#### 3.2.15 Important Decision

The MCA covers a wide range of decisions. It is not expected that a full assessment will need to be made and documented for each decision that a person might have to make whilst receiving care and treatment from Solent NHS Trust. This does not mean that the decision itself is any less important to that person. Rather, that for some decisions using the full recording process would be a disproportionate response. The more complex, contentious and/ or the greater the consequences are; the greater the assessment and the more thorough the recording needs to be. Major decisions that have the potential to affect a person's health or well-being, and those which are contentious should be recorded on the specific electronic system forms, or where an electronic system is not available on the forms in the appendix A and B. These decisions will be referred to as 'important decisions'. They include consent to care plans.

All decisions should have the process applied in principle. Decisions about low risk interventions such as providing personal care do not need to have this process recorded on the attached forms in every instance, unless there is evidence or indication that the patient may find the decision contentious. However, it is good practice that all staff should learn to make a mental assessment of capacity when it is in doubt and act accordingly with regard to helping the person make a decision, and considering their best interest. It is good practice for this to be briefly and simply recorded within the person's notes.

#### 3.3 Best Interest

- 3.3.1 Chapter 5 of The Code of Practice should be consulted for further guidance on assessing what is in a person's best interest.
- 3.3.2 One of the key principles of the Act is that any act done for, or any decision made on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done, or made, in that person's *best interests*. That is the same whether the person making the decision or acting is a family carer, a paid care worker, an attorney, a court-appointed deputy, or a healthcare professional, and whether the decision is a minor issue; like what to wear, or a major issue; like whether to provide particular healthcare.
- 3.3.3 The Act does not give a specific definition for 'best interest' but rather, states a duty on those intervening without consent of the person because of a lack of capacity to follow a process in deciding what is best. This includes identifying all the relevant factors, seeking to encourage and ensure the person's participation and consulting relevant others. The starting point is seeking to understand the world from that person's point of view and the aim is to make a decision that is right for that individual person. Best Interest is wider than medical or clinical best interest.

#### 3.3.4 **Decision Maker**

All Solent NHS Trust Staff should be aware that nothing in the Mental Capacity Act gives staff members, including Associate Hospital Managers and Non- Executive Directors the power to coerce, compel or control families in the context of the care of adults that lack capacity. The duty on staff is to work with families to provide advice, support and services in partnership in order to promote the welfare, autonomy and best interest of those who lack capacity. For many issues the family will be the decision makers and it is staff responsibility to support them. This includes working with families to address any concerns regarding a person's care. When working to resolve any disagreements or reach consensus all staff must be prepared to step back and reflect on the experience of patients and carers; their frustrations, hopes, fears and difficulties. In situations in which coercive powers are needed staff members, including Associate Hospital Managers and Non-Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring they have lawful authority for their acts and should seek advice if in doubt.

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 14 of 65

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

The Mental Capacity Act does not itself use the term 'decision maker'. However, it does set out a number of duties on those directing and carrying out interventions when the person lacks capacity to consent to it. The Code of Practice uses the term to identify who these duties apply to. In order to ensure these duties are discharged this policy defines the role of decision maker in Solent NHS Trust.

For 'important decisions' what is in a person's best interest will be determined by the 'decision maker'. The decision maker is the person best placed within the agency to undertake this role. Who this is will depend on the nature of the decision to be made. However, it will normally be the lead professional directing that aspect of the patient's care unless there is a reason specific to the case why another professional should undertake the role. An example could be specific and relevant expertise needed due to the complexity of the patient's medical needs.

As with capacity assessments, the more complex/ contentious or the greater the consequences the more thorough the assessment and recording needs to be. Important decisions should be decided in the context of a multi-disciplinary team but being clear who the decision maker is.

In order to ensure the duties to consider all the relevant factors and consult the appropriate people are discharged, some of these decisions may be best decided by a best interest meeting or series of meetings. In determining if the threshold for such a meeting is reached the following factors should be considered:

- the complexity of the decision,
- the nature and degree of risk associated with the outcomes,
- safeguarding issues,
- disagreement between professionals or professionals and family over what is in the person's best interest,
- risk of the person being deprived of their liberty.

In deciding if the threshold is reached the cumulative effect of these factors needs to be considered. However, serious concerns in one of the areas may be enough to trigger the need for the meeting. Appendix 5 gives guidance on undertaking best interest meetings, and sets out a template for minutes.

The processes for considering and recording best interest decisions can be summarised in the table below.

Decision level	Who should be involved	How decision is recorded
Simple decision	Staff member carrying out the Intervention. The service user and family should be consulted as much as is possible. Staff should be trained in the best interest decision making process and this should inform their practice.	As part of recording the intervention in the person's notes.
Hospital admission to a Solent NHS Trust inpatient unit for a person who lacks capacity to consent	The admitting professional should complete the assessments. These should be reviewed regularly.	If a person who lacks capacity to consent is admitted to a Solent NHS Trust inpatient unit, in their best interest, the form in APPENDIX 2 will be completed.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 15 of 65

A Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) care plan	The MDT team should involve the person and relevant others.	On the best interest decision making form on the electronic system, where an electronic system is not available the form in the appendix should be used.
'important decision'	Clinician directing the intervention (decision maker). The Multi-disciplinary team should be consulted. The person and informal carers and families views should be established and decided what weight to give them. The best interest decision making process should be followed and clearly recorded. IMCA referral should be made where the criteria is met.	On the best interest decision making form on the electronic system, where an electronic system is not available the form in the appendix should be used.
Best interest meetings	Clinician directing the intervention (decision maker). Appropriately senior manager representatives from the agencies/ teams involved. A process for involving and considering the patient and families views should be identified. The best interest decision making process should be followed and clearly recorded. IMCA referral should be made where the criteria is met.	Minutes of the meeting should record the decision making process. These should be made available to the patient and family in an appropriate format. These should be recorded or referenced in the best interest component of the electronic records system.

No matter how a patient's capacity is assessed and what is determined as being in their best interest all staff have a vital role to play in delivering care and carrying out interventions. Those involved in carrying out the care plans retain responsibility to consider how they can do so in the best interests of the person and to raise concerns if they believe the person has regained capacity or if the intervention is no longer in the person's best interest.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 16 of 65

#### 3.3.5 **Process for Determining Best Interest**

The Act and Code of Practice set out what process a decision maker should follow in establishing a person's best interest. This is the best interest checklist:

- Consider if the person will regain capacity and if the decision can wait.
- As far as is reasonably practicable permit and encourage participation of the person or improve his ability to participate as fully as possible.
- As far as is reasonably ascertainable consider:
  - the person's past and present wishes and feelings and any written statements about the issue, they made when they were able to;
  - the beliefs and values that would be likely to influence the person if they were able to make the decision; and
  - $\circ$   $\;$  the other factors that the person would see as important.
- Avoid discrimination:
  - Do not make assumptions about someone's best interests simply on the basis of the person's age, appearance, condition or behaviour.
- Life sustaining treatment
  - if the decision concerns life-sustaining treatment the decision must not be motivated in any way by a desire to bring about the person's death. They should not make assumptions about the person's quality of life.
- Consult and take into account as far as is practicable and appropriate:
  - anyone the person said should be consulted about this type of issue;
  - anyone caring for or concerned about the person;
  - anyone of a power of attorney granted by the person;
  - any deputy appointed for the person by the Court.
- Avoid restricting the person's rights: explore less restrictive options were possible.
- Take all of the above into account when making a decision.

The starting point should always be to seek to see the world through the person's eyes and take a holistic approach to the decision. However, those making decisions are not bound by the wishes and feelings of the person.

Each situation is different and what the relevant factors are will need to be decided on the facts of that situation. Likewise, the facts will need to be considered when deciding what weight is given to each factor. Best practice is to take a score card approach: identifying the relevant factors and possible choices, then recording the positives and negatives of each, the likelihood of the positive or negatives occurring, deciding what weight to give them and reaching a conclusion.

It is essential that when considering the pros and cons of particular alternatives appropriate considerations are given to the impact they are likely to have on the person's enjoyment and meaning in life, particularly with regard to their experience of a private and family life. This includes both the person's relationship with their family and their autonomy and developmental needs. The importance of each needs to be teased out in the circumstances of each case; in some cases family relationships will be more important and others developmental

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 17 of 65

needs and independence. In some cases they will be compatible and in others some conflict will be involved.

Likewise, when considering issues such as happiness, safety, autonomy and social belonging it will often be the case that no easy solution will be reached and not all of these will be met. This is particularly true as many interventions will be at times of crisis, illness or vulnerability. Practitioners should be careful not to introduce hard and fast rules about which of these is more important. The importance of each case needs to be decided in the circumstances of each case, remembering that each case is different. Decisions can always be kept under review and reconsidered in the light of changes or new information.

As stated below, when considering these issues the starting point is the best interest of the person concerned and their wishes and feelings. This principle applies to both professionals and family members making decisions on behalf of those who lack capacity and the onus should be on working together to meet the best interest and resolve disputes. If disputes cannot be resolved then the Court of Protection may be needed to decide.

### 3.3.6 Patient's Current Wishes and Feelings

It is always important to determine the patient's wishes and feelings and to give them proper consideration when deciding on a patient's best interest.

The starting point should always be trying to understand the world through the person's eyes. However, in some cases they may not be determinative. What weight to give them will depend on the facts of each case. In deciding this the following should be taken into account:

- the degree of the person's incapacity, for the more seriousness of the situation and consequences they understand the more weight must in principle be attached to their wishes and feelings
- the strength and consistency of the views being expressed by them
- the likely impact on them of the knowledge that their wishes and feelings are not being followed.
- the extent to which their wishes and feelings are, or are not: rational, sensible, responsible and pragmatically capable of sensible implementation in the particular circumstances; and
- crucially, the extent to which P's wishes and feelings, if given effect to, can properly be accommodated within the overall assessment of what is in his best interests.

### 3.3.7 Statements of Wishes and Feelings

Whilst a person has capacity they may have written a statement of wishes and feelings. In some cases they may have done this with family or professionals. This is an important way of them communicating what they want to happen if they lose capacity and should be encouraged. In mental health services this can be done through advance directives and forms part of the Care Program Approach process. These statements should always be taken into account when deciding best interest and incorporated as much as possible into the best interest plan. However they are not always determinative in deciding best interest and there may be justifiable reasons why they are not followed. If this is the case then reasons for this should be clearly recorded. Care, and where appropriate advice, should be taken to ensure they are valid reasons.

The issue of covert medication is covered in the Trusts Medicines policy. For medication given covertly under the Mental Health Act 1983 there is separate guidance in that policy. For medication that is not given under the Mental Health Act in situations in which the person lacks capacity and a decision needs to be made regarding covert administration then the best interest form should be completed. The assessment must include:

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 18 of 65

- the patient's understanding in relation to the treatment
- if the patient is likely to regain capacity
- if attempts should be made from time to time to administer non-covertly and if not, why not
- the risk of the patient not receiving treatment if covert medication is not tried and the risks this has for the patient
- consideration of why the assumption in favour of disclosure is not being followed
- consideration of why the patient's wishes and views are not being followed
- the pharmaceutical consequences of covert administration
- if it is medication for a mental disorder why the Mental Health Act 1983 is not being used to authorise it, and
- how arrangements will be reviewed (these must be at least one month, three months, six months and then annually)
- if the person is deprived of their liberty and how this should be authorised.

# 3.3.8 Resource Considerations

A person without capacity has the same right as others to resources and services. Before considering what is in a person's best interest the options that are actually possible need to be identified. This may mean approaching the relevant local authority or primary care trust. Only after establishing what is actually possible can what is in a person's best interest be determined from those options.

# 3.3.9 Situations where the Best Interest Process is not followed

There are two circumstances when the best interest principle will not apply:

- The first is where someone has previously made an advance decision to refuse medical treatment while they had the capacity to do so. Their advance decision should be respected when they lack capacity, even if others think that the decision to refuse treatment is not in their best interests.
- The second concerns the involvement in research of someone lacking capacity to consent, but only in certain circumstances. The Trust has a separate policy on research. It covers this area and it should be consulted for further information. This area is also covered in Chapter 11 of The Code of Practice.

### 3.4 Protection from Liability under section 5 of The Act and Restraint

- 3.4.1 The Mental Capacity Act does not give any specific powers for those intervening on behalf of a person that lacks capacity to consent but rather sets out a number of duties that must be met in these circumstances. Providing these duties are met those undertaking these interventions will be given protection from liability.
- 3.4.2 Section 5 of the Act gives protection from liability to the decision-maker or carer acting in the best interests of someone when they lack capacity to make decisions for themselves, or to consent to acts concerned with their care or treatment. When restraint is needed to ensure a person who lacks capacity to receive medical treatment then there are additional duties that must be met. These are defined in Section 6 of the Act.
- 3.4.3 The MCA has a very wide definition of restraint and this needs to be kept in mind when determining best interest. Section 6(4) of the Act states that someone is using restraint if they use force, or threaten to use force to make someone do something that they are resisting or restrict a person's freedom of movement, whether they are resisting or not.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust

- 3.4.4 Any action intended to restrain a person who lacks capacity will not attract protection from liability unless the person taking action reasonably believes that restraint is necessary to prevent harm to the person who lacks capacity, and the amount or type of restraint used and the amount of time it lasts must be a proportionate response to the likelihood and seriousness of harm.
- 3.4.5 The harm could occur because the person will harm themselves if the act is not done or, they will be harmed by a need not being met. Likewise, the restraint may be an essential element of preventing the harm or an unintended consequence of meeting other needs. For example shutting a door so someone cannot wander into the street would be an essential element of preventing the harm. Whereas, the side effects of a particular medication, for example sedation, or the limitations in the routine of a particular home, would be unintended restrictive consequences of seeking to meet the person's needs. However, the restrictions could have just as significant an impact on that person and could contribute to restrictions amounting to a deprivation of liberty. In deciding whether the action is still in the person's best interest, the restrictive alternatives and harms of not intervening. They should only proceed if it is the less restrictive alternative and the restrictions caused are proportionate to the need to prevent the likely harms that could occur by not acting and the benefits of acting.
- 3.4.6 In particular, Section 5 of the Act does not offer protection from liability when restraint amounts to a deprivation of liberty unless this is legally authorised.
- 3.4.7 If restraint is needed for an inpatient in a psychiatric hospital then the care team should consider if the person is objecting to being in hospital or receiving the treatment for his mental disorder. If there is reason to think that a patient would object, if able to do so, then the patient should be taken to be objecting. If it is decided the patient is objecting due thought should be given to using the provisions set out under The Mental Health Act 1983 and the reasons and decision recorded.
- 3.4.8 All staff within clinical areas should be familiar with the Trust procedures and guidance of their area with regard to restraint.

Where a care plan for a person who lacks capacity involves any form of restraint this must be regularly reviewed to ensure it is the least restrictive involvement and, given the above considerations, remains appropriate and there is appropriate authorisation for any deprivation of liberty.

### 3.5 Section 5 and the Management of Money for those who Lack Capacity

- 3.5.1 The Code of Practice 6.56 to 6.66 gives guidance on the management of finances for someone who lacks capacity. A carer (paid or unpaid) can use a person's money to pay for goods providing that they are necessary, in the person's best interests and comply with the conditions of Section 5 of the Act. These actions will need to be carefully considered and when involving Trust staff should be recorded in the care plan and clear documentation kept, including receipts. No action should conflict with:
  - a Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA),
  - Enduring Power of Attorney (EPA),
  - advance decision,
  - a decision of the Court of Protection or deputy appointed by the Court of Protection.
- 3.5.2 Consideration should also be given, taking into account any safeguarding concerns, as to whether it is more appropriate for an informal carer to take on this role.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 20 of 65

- 3.5.3 Each team will need to agree their procedures and guidelines in relation to this power.
- 3.5.4 Section 5 does not give authority to access a person's income or assets or sell their property. More formal powers are needed for these actions. These include, LPA, EPA, a court appointed deputy or in the case of the management of benefits, appointeeship (under Social Security Regulations). In some cases an application to the Court of Protection may need to be made. These issues are dealt with in the relevant sections below. For further guidance the Client Affairs Team at Portsmouth City Council should be contacted on 023 92688199.
- 3.5.5 For patients residing in Southampton the adult social care team should be contacted on 02380 833003.

### **3.6** Advance Decisions

- 3.6.1 Chapter 9 of the Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice should be consulted for further guidance on advance decisions as should the Trust policy CLN/03 Advance Decisions to refuse treatment. Practitioners should note that if an Advance Decision is about life sustaining treatment it must be written and recorded in a specific format.
- 3.6.2 Health professionals should not become involved in the drafting of any Advance Decision for a patient, unless they have received specialist training on the issue. If asked, medical personnel should ask patients to obtain independent help with their Advance Decision. However, where a patient makes a verbal Advance Decision this should be recorded in patient's notes, witnessed, signed and dated. Solent NHS Trust staff can support people in making Advance Decisions by following the guidelines in CLN/03 Advance Decisions to Refuse Treatment.

### 3.7 Lasting Power Attorney (LPA) and Enduring Power of Attorney (EPA)

- 3.7.1 Chapter 7 of the Code of Practice should be consulted for further guidance on LPAs and EPAs.
- 3.7.2 The Mental Capacity Act replaced EPAs with LPAs. If a staff member has any concerns about the validity of an LPA or EPA they should request The Office of The Public Guardian to search their registers.
- 3.7.3 Enduring Powers of Attorney (EPA) allow the attorney to make certain decisions on behalf of the person who made the EPA. Some of their features are:
  - No further EPAs can be made.
  - Existing EPAs are still valid.
  - EPAs only cover property and affairs.
  - EPAs can be used while the donor still has capacity to manage their own property and affairs.
  - EPAs must be registered with the Public Guardian when the donor can no longer manage their own affairs (or when they start to lose capacity).
- 3.7.4 A Lasting Power of Attorneys (LPAs) enables a person to nominate someone to make decisions on their behalf when they are no longer able to. Under an LPA, the chosen person (the attorney) can make decisions that are as valid as one made by the person (the donor).
- 3.7.5 LPAs can be registered at any time before they are used before or after the donor lacks capacity to make particular decisions that the LPA covers. If the LPA is not registered, it can't be used.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 21 of 65

- 3.7.6 There are two types of LPAs:
  - Welfare LPA: covering health and personal welfare. This is only effective if the person lacks capacity with regard to the specific issue, and the LPA is registered.
  - Property and Affairs LPA: covering financial issues. These can be used before the donor lacks capacity unless the donor states not in the LPA.
- 3.7.7 The Code of Practice gives guidance on how to create, define the limits of an attorney's power and register LPAs.
- 3.7.8 Attorneys must follow the principles of the Act and act in the best interests of the donor. Where there are concerns that this is not being done The Office of the Public Guardian should be consulted.
- 3.7.9 Where there is a valid welfare LPA covering the specific issue in question, except for the situations described below, the attorney becomes the decision maker. If there is a dispute then the guidance below should be followed.
- 3.7.10 Even where the LPA includes healthcare decisions, attorneys do not have the right to consent to or refuse treatment in situations where:
  - The donor has capacity to make the particular healthcare decision (section 11(7) (a)) An attorney has no decision-making power if the donor can make their own treatment decisions.
  - The donor has made an advance decision to refuse the proposed treatment (section 11(7) (b)) An attorney cannot consent to treatment if the donor has made a valid and applicable advance decision to refuse a specific treatment. But if the donor made an LPA after the advance decision, and gave the attorney the right to consent to or refuse the treatment, the attorney can choose not to follow the advance decision.
  - A decision relates to life-sustaining treatment (section 11(7) (c)) An attorney has no power to consent to or refuse life-sustaining treatment, unless the LPA document expressly authorises this. In this situation, the attorney must not be motivated in any way by the desire to bring about the donor's death.
  - The donor is detained under the Mental Health Act (section 28) An attorney cannot consent to or refuse treatment for a mental disorder for a patient detained under the Mental Health Act 1983
- 3.7.11 Details of Lasting Powers of Attorney should be recorded in the case notes including contact details for the attorney, the type of LPA made (property and affairs or welfare) and the type of decision the attorney has power to make.

# 3.8 Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCA)

- 3.8.1 Chapter 10 of the Code of Practice gives further guidance on IMCAs.
- 3.8.2 An IMCA is an independent person appointed to assist with decision making for those who lack capacity. The Trust has a duty to refer for an IMCA in certain situations. These are when a person is 'unfriended' and when any of the following are being considered:
  - serious medical treatment
  - NHS organised changes of residence lasting over 28 days

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 22 of 65

- 3.8.3 An IMCA *may* also be instructed to support someone who lacks capacity to make decisions concerning:
  - care reviews, where no-one else is available to be consulted;
  - adult protection cases, whether or not family, friends or others are involved.
- 3.8.4 'Unbefriend' means when there is no other suitable, non-professional person to represent them. If the care team is unclear if a person is unbefriended then this should be discussed with the IMCA service.
- 3.8.5 The IMCA's role is to support and represent the person who lacks capacity. Because of this, IMCAs have the right to see relevant healthcare and social care records. It is the responsibility of the consultant in charge of the care to decide what is relevant. The IMCA should be informed if they are being shown third party information that the service user is unaware of.
- 3.8.6 Any information or reports provided by an IMCA must be taken into account as part of the process of working out whether a proposed decision is in the person's best interests. However, the decision maker is not under an obligation to follow it. See below for situations where there is a dispute.
- 3.8.7 The decision maker should refer to the IMCA service as soon as the service user's eligibility is identified. This will prevent any delay in treatment and care planning. The only situation in which the duty to instruct an IMCA need not be followed, is when an urgent decision is needed (for example, to save the person's life). This decision must be recorded with the reason for the non-referral. The care team will still need to instruct an IMCA for any serious treatment that follows the emergency treatment.
- 3.8.8 For Portsmouth this is done by the process in Appendix 3. The Southampton IMCA service operates during 9am 5pm Monday to Friday. The service does not operate at weekends or on Bank or Public holidays. It provides an advocacy service for any person meeting the criteria who is accommodated or placed within the Southampton City Council boundary at the time the serious decision is requested to be made.
- 3.8.9 Referrals can be made to the IMCA service by emailing the electronic referral form available via the IMCA website. Referrals may be made by telephone to the IMCA service on 023 80637722.

### 3.9 Dealing with Disputes

- 3.9.1 Chapter 15 of The Code of Practice gives further guidance on resolving disputes. Disagreements can occur regarding the assessment of a person's capacity to make a specific decision, as well as what is in a person's best interest. The disputes may be between professionals, between families and/ or informal carers, between professionals and the family and/or informal carers, or between any of these and the person concerned.
- 3.9.2 Those involved in the disagreement may be carrying out their role as an IMCA, attorney or court appointed deputy.
- 3.9.3 Initially efforts should be made to resolve disagreements through discussion and meetings.
- 3.9.4 When disagreements are between professionals and family members then the following should be considered:
  - setting out the different options in a way those involved can understand
  - inviting a colleague to talk to the family and offer a second opinion
  - offering to get independent expert advice

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 23 of 65

- using an advocate to support and represent the person who lacks capacity
- arranging a case conference or meeting to discuss matters in detail
- listening to, acknowledging and addressing worries, and
- where the situation is not urgent, allowing the family time to think it over.
- 3.9.5 If the dispute is still not resolved then further options to consider are:
  - Involving a mediation service.
  - Family members, or the person themselves, can consider the Trust's complaints procedure.
  - The Health Service Ombudsman can be asked to investigate some problems that have not been resolved through formal complaints procedures.
- 3.9.6 Professionals need to be aware that nothing in the Act gives them the power to coerce, control or impose the will of the organisation on family caring for those who lack capacity. If agreement cannot be reached on significant issues then further advice should be sought as to whether to consider approaching the Court of Protection to determine the person's best interest. This is particularly important when considering issues such as residence and significant healthcare interventions.
- 3.9.7 When disputes are between professionals then due regard should be given to each professional's views. However, for medical interventions the final decision is made by the nominated decision maker. They may wish to seek further advice about proceeding or approaching the Court of Protection to make the decision.
- 3.9.8 When the decision maker, after discussion, disagrees with the IMCA then both views should be recorded and the decision maker should record why they disagreed and why they chose the different course of action.
- 3.9.9 In some cases some level of disagreement between professionals will have to be accepted, regardless of who the disagreement is between. The decision maker will choose the course of action unless something particular to the case makes it necessary to make an application to The Court of Protection (see below).
- 3.9.10 Disputes about the finances of a person who lacks capacity should usually be referred to the Office of the Public Guardian (OPG) (see below) and may need an application to The Court of Protection.

### 3.10 The Court of Protection

- 3.10.1 Chapter 8 of the Code of Practice gives further guidance on The Court of Protection.
- 3.10.2 Section 45 of the Act sets up a specialist court, the Court of Protection, to deal with decisionmaking for adults (and children in a few cases) who may lack capacity to make specific decisions for themselves.
- 3.10.3 The Court of Protection has the same powers, rights, privileges and authority as the High Court. When reaching any decision, the court must apply all the statutory principles set out in section 1 of the Act. In particular, it must make a decision in the best interests of the person who lacks capacity to make the specific decision. There will usually be a fee for applications to the court.
- 3.10.4 The Court of Protection has powers to:
  - decide whether a person has capacity to make a particular decision for themselves
  - make declarations, decisions or orders on financial or welfare matters affecting people who lack capacity to make such decisions

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 24 of 65

- appoint deputies to make decisions for people lacking capacity to make those decisions
- decide whether an LPA or EPA is valid, and remove deputies or attorneys who fail to carry out their duties.

#### 3.10.5 When to make an application to the Court of Protection

In the context of decisions about serious treatment there are some decisions that are so serious they should always be brought before the Court. These are:

- decisions about the proposed withholding or withdrawal of artificial nutrition and hydration (ANH) from patients in a permanent vegetative state (PVS)
- cases involving organ or bone marrow donation by a person who lacks capacity to consent
- cases involving the proposed non-therapeutic sterilisation of a person who lacks capacity to consent to this (e.g. for contraceptive purposes) and
- all other cases where there is a doubt or dispute about whether a particular treatment will be in a person's best interests. The significance of the decision, the other attempts to resolve disagreements made, and the risks and consequences attached to the decision will need to be considered in deciding if it is appropriate to make an application to the Court of Protection.
- 3.10.6 Other cases where it is likely to be appropriate to make an application to the Court of Protection are:
  - The court has guidance on when certain termination of pregnancy cases should be brought before the court.
  - Cases involving ethical dilemmas in untested areas, or where there are otherwise irresolvable conflicts between healthcare staff, or between staff and family members.
  - Cases where it is unclear whether proposed serious and/or invasive medical treatment is likely to be in the best interests of the person who lacks capacity to consent.
  - An order of the court will usually be necessary for matters relating to the property and affairs (including financial matters) of people who lack capacity to make specific financial decisions for themselves, unless their only income is state benefits, or they have previously made an Enduring Power of Attorney (EPA) or a Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) to give somebody authority to manage their property and affairs.
  - Circumstances in which there is an unauthorised deprivation of liberty and the DoLS procedures or the Mental Health Act are not available to authorise it. This is likely to be the Court of Protection but in some cases may be the High Court.
- 3.10.7 The Court of Protection can also appoint a deputy to make particular decisions. This may be appropriate where ongoing decisions need to be made. However, where possible, the court should make the decision itself and if a deputy needs to be appointed, their appointment should be as limited in scope and for as short a time as possible. Chapter 8 of the Code of Practice gives further guidance on court appointed deputies.
- 3.10.8 When it is considered that an application to the Court of Protection is likely to be needed the Multi-Disciplinary Care Team should consult with the Mental Capacity Act Lead, at the earliest opportunity to enable specialist legal advice to be sought.
- 3.10.9 Practice directions and rules for the Court of Protection can be downloaded from the Court of Protection website. Further information on the Court of Protection, including rulings, statutory forms and service standards can be accessed via the Office of The Public Guardian, http://www.publicguardian.gov.uk/index.htm.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

# 3.11 Office of The Public Guardian

- 3.11.1 Section 57 of the Act creates a Public Guardian, supported by staff of the Office of the Public Guardian (OPG). The Public Guardian helps protect people who lack capacity by:
  - setting up and managing a register of LPAs
  - setting up and managing a register of EPAs
  - setting up and managing a register of court orders that appoint deputies
  - supervising deputies, working with other relevant organisations (for example, social services, if the person who lacks capacity is receiving social care)
  - sending Court of Protection Visitors to visit people who may lack capacity to make particular decisions and those who have formal powers to act on their behalf (see paragraphs 14.10–14.11 below)
  - receiving reports from attorneys acting under LPAs and from deputies
  - providing reports to the Court of Protection, as requested, and
  - dealing with representations (including complaints) about the way in which attorneys or deputies carry out their duties.
- 3.11.2 The Office of the Public Guardian website gives further details of its role, LPAs, EPA, guidance for deputies and processes for a requesting a search of its register.

# 3.12 Ill treatment and Wilful Neglect of a Person who lacks Capacity

- 3.12.1 The Act introduces two new criminal offences: ill treatment and wilful neglect of a person who lacks capacity to make relevant decisions (section 44). The offences may apply to:
  - anyone caring for a person who lacks capacity this includes family carers, healthcare and social care staff in hospital or care homes and those providing care in a person's home
  - an attorney appointed under an LPA or an EPA, or
  - a deputy appointed for the person by the court.
- 3.12.2 Any professional with safeguarding concerns for a person who lacks capacity should follow the organisation's safeguarding policy.

# 3.13 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS)

- 3.13.1 If a person who lacks capacity to consent is admitted to a Solent NHS Trust inpatient unit, in their best interest, the form in APPENDIX 2, or an equivalent should be completed.
- 3.13.2 If there is any concern that an inpatient may be deprived of their liberty, the Mental Health Act does not apply and DoLS does apply then an urgent authorisation must be given and a standard authorisation requested. The procedure for this is detailed below.
- 3.13.3 The advice in this policy is correct at the time it was approved. However, case law may change, particularly with regard to what amounts to a Deprivation of Liberty. It is important for staff to seek further advice from the Mental Capacity Act and Health Act Lead if there is any doubt.
- 3.13.4 The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards are dealt with in their own Code of Practice which is a supplement to the main Mental Capacity Act 2005 Code of Practice. This should be consulted for further guidance.
- 3.13.5 The DoL safeguards were introduced to prevent breaches of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) such as the one identified by the judgment of the European Court of

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 26 of 65

Human Rights (ECtHR) in the case of HL v the United Kingdom (commonly referred to as the 'Bournewood' judgment).

- 3.13.6 In this case a man with autism was admitted to a hospital. He lacked capacity to decide if he should be admitted or not. He was admitted under common law. His carers challenged his admission. The European Court of Human Rights ruled that considering all the restrictions he was under and the circumstances surrounding his admission he was deprivation of liberty and that;
  - it had not been in accordance with 'a procedure prescribed by law' and was, therefore, in breach of Article 5(1) of the ECHR, and
  - there had been a contravention of Article 5(4) of the ECHR because HL had no means of applying quickly to a court to see if the deprivation of liberty was lawful.
- 3.13.7 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 has been amended to prevent further similar breaches of the ECHR, where it is not possible to use the provisions of The Mental Health Act 1983.
- 3.13.8 In summary the DoLS procedures are intended to be safeguards for those who lack capacity to consent to admission in hospital or residence in a care home. They are intended to ensure that when restrictions on a person amount to a deprivation of liberty then they only continue if necessary and if certain conditions are met.
- 3.13.9 The DoLS procedures must be followed for service users:
  - who lack capacity specifically to consent to treatment or care in either a hospital or a care home; and
  - the care can only be provided in circumstances that amount to a deprivation of liberty; and
  - the care is in their Best Interest; and
  - detention under the Mental Health Act 1983 is not appropriate for the person at that time.
- 3.13.10 If these requirements are met and there is any concern a person may be deprived of their liberty then a DoLS application must be pursued.
- 3.13.11 These safeguards are referred to in the Code of Practice as 'Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards'.
- 3.13.12 The safeguards should not be viewed as a punitive or negative measure. Their aim is wherever possible to prevent a deprivation of liberty occurring. However, in some cases the duty to safeguard a person, without capacity to decide on relevant matters in their care plan, will mean that the circumstances of their care amount to an unavoidable deprivation of their liberty in their best interests. In these cases the DoLS ensure that this is for no longer than necessary, is as less restrictive as possible and provide significant safeguards for the person. They also provide clear guidelines and legal protection for those involved, including professionals and family.
- 3.13.13 As stated above, DoLS only apply to people in a hospital or care home; they do not apply to people in private residence; and they only apply to people over 18.
- 3.13.14 An authorisation under DoLS can only be made if it is:
  - in the person's best interests to protect them from harm
  - a proportionate response to the likelihood and seriousness of the harm, and
  - there is no less restrictive alternative.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 27 of 65

3.13.15 DoLS cannot be used when:

- the patient has made a valid and applicable advance decision refusing a necessary element of the treatment for which they are to be admitted to hospital
- the use of the safeguards would conflict with a decision of the person's attorney or deputy or of the Court of Protection; or
- the patient lacks capacity to make decisions on some elements of the care and treatment they need, but has capacity to decide about a vital element and either has already refused it or is likely to do so.
- the DoLS cannot be used where the provisions of The Mental Health Act 1983 would take primacy.
- 3.13.16 The DoLS procedures where introduced as safeguards for those who lack capacity and are deprived of their liberty. It is not appropriate to use them to enforce the will of a particular organisation over that of a family. In such cases, where agreement cannot be reached advice should be sought about bringing the matter before the Court of Protection to decide the issue. Similarly, when disputes about a person's residence cannot be resolved then it is likely to be inappropriate to rely on DoLS alone and consideration should be given to an application to the Court of Protection.
- 3.13.17 Likewise, it is not appropriate to use the safeguards to enforce a care plan that can be achieved in a less restrictive way that meets the needs of the person and addresses the risks. To this end, all restrictions and restraints should be kept under review to ensure they are necessary, proportionate and regard is had to less restrictive options.
- 3.13.18 It is important to bear in mind that, while the deprivation of liberty might be for the purpose of giving a person treatment, a Deprivation of Liberty authorisation does not itself authorise treatment. Treatment that is proposed following authorisation of deprivation of liberty may only be given with the person's consent (if they have capacity to make the decision) or in accordance with the wider provisions of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. If a person is deprived of their liberty for the purpose of receiving treatment or assessment for a mental disorder, as defined by the Mental Health Act 1983, and they object then the Mental Health Act must be used. If the person lacks capacity to consent to the admission, is deprived of their liberty, is admitted for the treatment of mental disorder but does not object then a choice needs to be made between the Mental Health Act and the DoLS procedures. This will be about which is most appropriate and least restrictive in the individual circumstances of the case.

#### 3.13.19 What is 'Deprivation of Liberty'?

When considering this staff do not have to be certain that the threshold of deprivation of liberty is met before pursuing an application. If there is any concern that there may be a deprivation of liberty then an application must be pursued.

The test if someone is deprived of their liberty is whether that person is: under continuous supervision and control and is not free to leave. If they meet this objective test and have not consented to the arrangements then they are deprived of their liberty.

When a person lacks capacity to consent to an admission it is the responsibility of the ward staff to identify any restrictions that are relevant to determining a deprivation of liberty. These issues should be considered by the multi-disciplinary team and it should be clearly recorded why this does or does not require the DoLS procedure to be followed or the Mental Health Act, if it applies. In particular, the significance of the particular liberties and restrictions considered should be recorded. These considerations should be kept under regular review.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 28 of 65

In addition, at every stage of care planning professionals should be mindful of issues of capacity, promoting participation and reducing the level of any restriction to only what is necessary, proportionate and for a short a time as possible. This is particularly important within the context of a potential deprivation of liberty. This is a standard expected of all staff, in both their own practice, and clinical management of others, relevant to their level and should be an approach consistent throughout care planning and providing care. A deprivation of liberty could be prevented by ensuring;

- The Trust's care planning and recording procedures are followed, including regular reviews.
- The Trust's process and paperwork for assessing capacity and deciding on best interests are followed.
- The Trust's procedures on the use of observation and restraint are correctly followed.
- Serious consideration is given to promoting the participation of the service user and their significant others and contact between these is promoted.
- Advocacy services are fully and appropriately used.
- Autonomy on the ward and access to different areas is increased.
- Time off the ward is increased.
- Meaningful activities are increased.

# 3.13.20 When to apply The DoLS procedures when considering a move to a care home or admission to hospital

The procedures are in place as a safeguard against arbitrary detention in hospital or a care home, they are not meant as a means for an NHS body or local authority to enforce a move to a care home or admission to hospital. In order to fully operate as a safeguard then wherever possible a request for a standard authorisation should be made before any move or admission in situations in which it is likely the person will be deprived of their liberty. This will ensure that the issues are properly considered and the procedure prescribed by law, namely the DoLS procedures, are applied before a person is deprived of their liberty and assurance can be given that Article 5 of the ECHR is complied with. See Chapter 6 of the Code of Practice.

### 3.13.21 The Mental Health Act and DoLS for Patients in Hospital

There is guidance in the Code of Practice to The Mental Health Act 1983 and The Deprivation of Liberty Code of Practice on when to use the Mental Health Act 1983 and when to use DoLS. This should be read in the light of relevant case law.

In summary, when a person without capacity is in or is likely to be admitted to a hospital, receiving treatment/ assessment for a mental disorder, as defined within The Mental Health Act 1983, and;

- has or is likely to have their liberty deprived for that purpose or in the process of admission; or
- has an advance decision refusing treatment for the mental disorder or hospital admission; or
- objects or is likely to object to that treatment/ assessment; or
- objects to remaining in the hospital or being admitted to the hospital; or
- the patient's lack of capacity to consent is fluctuating or temporary and the patient is not expected to consent when they regain capacity. This may be particularly relevant to patients having acute psychotic, manic or depressive episodes

then a referral should be made for an assessment under the Mental Health Act 1983.

When restraint is used for a person lacking capacity who is already in a hospital for treatment/ assessment for a mental disorder then the following guidance in the Mental Health Act 1983 Code of Practice should be taken into account:

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 29 of 65

If a patient is not detained, but restraint in any form has been deemed necessary (whether as an emergency or as part of the patient's treatment plan), consideration should be given to whether formal detention under the Act is appropriate (subject to the criteria being met).

In considering the above, professionals should clarify the purposes of all the treatment and assessment and what elements of it are for the mental disorder, as defined within the Mental Health Act 1983, and what parts of it are just for the physical disorder. A person receiving treatment or assessment for a mental disorder can still be detained under the DoLS in hospital, but only if the Deprivation of Liberty is only for the purpose of enabling a physical treatment unconnected, in terms of treatment defined in the Mental Health Act 1983, to the mental disorder and the treatment or assessment for the mental disorder could occur without a deprivation of liberty, if it was not for the physical condition.

If it is determined that a person is deprived of their liberty for the purpose of treatment as defined by the Mental Health Act 1983 and they object to a component of that care then the Mental health Act 1983 must be used.

#### 3.13.22 Determining if a Person objects

Paragraph 5(6) and 5(7) of schedule 1A of the Act identifies what should be considered in determining if there is an objection:

In determining whether or not P objects to something, regard must be had to all the circumstances (so far as they are reasonably ascertainable), including the following—

(a)P's behaviour;

(b)P's wishes and feelings;

(c)P's views, beliefs and values.

But regard is to be had to circumstances from the past only so far as it is still appropriate to have regard to them.

Paragraph 5(4) of schedule 1A sets out what the decision makers have to decide there is an objection to or not:

(a) to being a mental health patient, or

(b) to being given some or all of the mental health treatment.

The Judge in GJ identified that this test cannot be applied without considering what the purpose of the care regime is. In considering how to interpret paragraph 5(4) He stated it (italics is my entry):has to be looked at in this way [considering the purpose of the regime] and without taking any fine distinctions between the potential reasons for the objection to treatment of different types, or to simply being in a hospital. As is recognised and provided for by paragraph 5(6), this is because it is often going to be the case that the relevant person (P) does not have the capacity to make a properly informed and balanced decision. So what matters, applying the approach set out in paragraph 5(6), is whether P will or does object to what is proposed. (paragraph 83)

In summary then, the purpose of the care regime that the detention is needed for should be identified. The decision maker must then consider the person's behaviour, wishes and feelings, views, beliefs and values (including those of the past as far as it is still appropriate to) and if there is anything that could be considered an objection it should be considered as an objection to the regime as a whole and the person will be ineligible for DoLS, the Mental Health Act 1983 having primacy.

If a person in these circumstances does not object then a decision has to be made about which statute to use. Service level guidance is issued to cover these cases.

#### 3.13.23 Action to be taken if a deprivation of liberty is occurring or is likely to occur.

The DoLS office that should be contacted will depend on where the person was ordinarily resident before the admission. Whichever supervisory body is contacted a copy of any urgent authorisation or referral for a standard authorisation needs to be faxed or emailed to the MHA administration team. This will be monitored and reported to the quarterly Mental Capacity Act/Deprivation of Liberty Governance Group.

Once a request for a standard authorisation has been made the supervisory body (the DoLS office) will arrange for a medical assessor and a Best Interest Assessor to complete the six required assessments: best interest assessment, age assessment, mental health assessment, eligibility assessment, capacity assessment, no refusals assessment. Only if all six assessments are positive will a DoLS be authorised.

If Solent NHS Trust staff are concerned that a deprivation of liberty is or is likely to be occurring in a Trust hospital or accommodation then the issue should be raised immediately with a registered professional or service manager; who should consider the issues, take appropriate steps in line with this policy and record their actions and reasons. If necessary this should include the care team considering what steps could be taken to prevent a deprivation of liberty.

If the care team believe a deprivation of liberty, is already occurring, cannot be avoided and the above criteria are met then Solent NHS Trust, as the managing authority, will need to make an urgent authorisation following the appropriate procedures. This will also involve making a request for a standard authorisation.

If the care team believe a deprivation of liberty is not yet occurring but is likely to occur, cannot be avoided and the criteria discussed above are met then Solent NHS Trust, as the managing authority, are responsible for referring for a standard authorisation in line with the appropriate procedures.

If there are concerns that a deprivation of liberty is occurring, the referral criteria for DoLS is not met, and provisions under the Mental Health Act 1983 cannot be used then immediate adjustments must be made to the care plan to stop the restrictions amounting to a deprivation of liberty. If there are any doubts an urgent authorisation should be given and a standard referral made.

If an application is made for a standard notification then the CQC will need to be informed when it is made and informed if it is approved. The Mental Health Act Administration team will undertake this task.

http://www.cqc.org.uk/guidanceforprofessionals/nhstrusts/registration/notifications.

Solent NHS Trust delegates their responsibilities as described in the table below.

Solent NHS Trust duty	Band of staff from the ward responsible for undertaking this function
Care planning and delivering care in line with the Mental Capacity Act 2005.	All staff in their clinical practice and clinical management of others are responsible for discharging this duty.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 31 of 65

Identifying where a deprivation of liberty is occurring or may occur.	All staff, in their clinical practice and clinical management of others, are responsible for raising any concerns with regard to this duty. Any concerns should be raised with a ward staff member that is a registered health or social care professional. They should consider the issue, take appropriate action in line with this policy and clearly record their action and reasons. This should include considerations of the issues by the care team.
To submit DoLS applications to the Supervisory Body when a deprivation of liberty or a potential deprivation of liberty has been identified, only the designated Managing Authority may do this. COPIES must be sent to the Mental Health Act administration team.	Registered health or social care professional staff are responsible for discharging this duty.
To inform the CQC when an application is made and to inform them if it is approved.	The Mental Health Act Administration Team.
To grant DoLS Urgent Authorisations when these are required, only the designated Managing Authority may do this.	Registered health or social care professional ward staff are responsible for discharging this duty.
To notify the patient and their families when Urgent Authorisations or Standard Applications have been submitted	The staff member making the authorisation or referral is responsible for ensuring this duty is met. In some cases they can delegate this to another registered health or social care staff member but they retain overall responsibility for ensuring the duty is discharged.
To comply with Conditions set as part of the granting of a Standard Authorisation and to monitor the relevance of these conditions	All staff at their level of practice must be aware of the conditions and ensure their intervention complies with them. Registered health and social care staff from the ward, in their clinical management of the patient, are responsible for taking an overview of the case and ensuring this duty is met. Medical staff in their clinical management of the patient are responsible for ensuring this duty is met.
To ensure the DoLS Relevant Person's Representatives are enabled to maintain reasonable contact with the patient, that their role is explained to them and their contact is monitored.	All staff are responsible to enable this appropriate to their role. Registered health or social care professional staff from the ward are responsible for taking an overview and ensuring this duty is discharged.

To monitor the care plan to see that the six qualifying requirements for a DoLS authorisation are still met	All staff are responsible for being aware of the requirements and to raise concerns if any of the requirements appear not to be met. These concerns should be raised with registered health or social care staff from the ward who are responsible for considering the situation, taking appropriate action in line with this policy and recording the action and their reasons. This should include considerations of the issues by the care team.
To report any significant changes, including no longer meeting any of the qualifying requirements or ending of the DoLS, to the Supervisory Body, to request a DoLS review.	Registered health or social care staff from the ward are responsible for discharging this duty. They must contact the appropriate DoLS office and clearly record this action.

If Solent NHS Trust staff are concerned that an unauthorised deprivation of liberty is occurring or is likely to occur in non-trust accommodation then they should discuss their concerns with the managing authority of the home or hospital and with their line manager as soon as is practicable. If the situation has not been resolved the Trust Mental Capacity Act Lead should be consulted and the guidance in Chapter 9 of DoLS Code of Practice and in the Trust and Social Services Joint Procedures followed.

### 3.13.24 Situations in which an authorisation application has not been completed by the Supervisory Body, within the statutory timescales

If an application is submitted to the Supervisory Body but a decision is not reached within the statutory times scales then an update should be sought from the Supervisory Body and a copy of any correspondence kept on file. A risk incident should be raised. Updates should be sought on a fortnightly basis by the Mental Health Act Administration Team **if** event of the person experiencing distress as a result of the Deprivation of Liberty by the ward. If any of the following apply then further advice should be sort as soon as is possible:

- the person is experiencing harm due to the deprivation of liberty;
- the person objects to the deprivation of liberty;
- there is uncertainty as to what is in the person's best interest with regard to key aspects of their care;
- serious medical treatment is being proposed;
- there is dispute about the person's best interest;
- there is potential conflict with an apparent advance decision to refuse treatment or decision of an attorney;
- the person could be within the scope of the Mental Health Act; or
- there is any other reason why the decision should not wait.

In these cases clear advice should be obtained from the Mental Capacity Act Lead or legal team and an action plan recorded in the notes. A copy of this and the plan should be sent to the Menatl Health Act administration team to record with the DoLS register.

### 3.13.25 Deprivation of Liberty in other Care Settings

A person can be deprived of their liberty in other care settings. If they are and are unable to consent to it then the deprivation of liberty will need to be authorised. This will normally be by an application to the Court of Protection by the Local Authority or Clinical Commissioning Group. It is the responsibility of Solent NHS Staff to ensure that the relevant authority is made

aware of any concerns staff members, including Associate Hospital Managers and Non-Executive Directors, have that a person is deprived of their liberty and this is not authorised. This can include in a person's own home if there is a significant state involvement in the care.

#### 3.13.26 16/17 and admission to hospital

The Supreme Court delivered a judgment on the deprivation of liberty on 16/17 year olds who are unable to consent to their deprivation in September 2019 (in the matter of D (A child). [2019] UKSC42.)

We are no longer able to rely on the consent of those who hold parental responsibility, for a 16/17-year-old that need treatment in a Trust hospital, where the conditions would amount to a deprivation of liberty.

In these circumstances, their deprivation would need to be authorised by a legal framework under;

- The Mental Health Act 1983, where applicable.
- Section 25 of the Children Act 1989, where relevant
- An order made by the Court of Protection.

#### 3.14 Reporting Risk events

The implementation of this policy is monitored, in part, through a consideration of risk events that occur involving situations where a person does not have capacity to consent to particular interventions. It is therefore essential that staff completed the various questions on risk reports regarding the service user's capacity to consent at the time of the event.

#### 4. ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES

#### 4.1 Staff Responsibilities

- 4.1.1 Clinical Leaders (all professions) are responsible for ensuring that their teams discharge their responsibilities under the terms of the Act.
- 4.1.2 This policy applies to bank, locum, permanent and fixed term contract employees (including apprentices) who hold a contract of employment or engagement with the Trust, and secondees (including students), volunteers (including Associate Hospital Managers), Non-Executive Directors, and those undertaking research working within Solent NHS Trust, in line with Solent NHS Trust's Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Policy. It also applies to external contractors, agency workers, and other workers who are assigned to Solent NHS Trust.

All who come into contact with patients, their relatives and carers and the public are responsible for being aware of the requirements of the Act and their responsibilities under the terms of the Act.

4.1.3 The policy author is responsible for updating the guidelines in the light of any relevant legislation, case law or change in policy.

### 4.2 Internal documentation system

4.2.1 Assessments of capacity to make important decisions will be recorded on the Hampshire County Council Mental Capacity Toolkit pro forma (APPENDIX 1). This will be saved on the electronic system as appropriate.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 34 of 65

- 4.2.2 Important decisions made in the best interests of the patient will be recorded on the Hampshire County Council Mental Capacity Toolkit pro forma (APPENDIX 2), This will be saved on the electronic system.
- 4.2.3 A copy of the IMCA referral form should be placed on the patient's file, or noted on the electronic system as a progress note.
- 4.2.4 If care plans are undertaken in a patient's best interest then they should include a clear statement concerning the patient's capacity and details of the assessment, how the care plan was decided in their best interest, the effect of any restrictions and how it will be reviewed.
- 4.2.5 If a person who lacks capacity to consent is admitted to a Solent NHS Trust inpatient unit, in their best interest, the form in APPENDIX 2 will be completed.

#### 5. TRAINING

- 5.1 All people listed in 4.1.2 who may be expected to support an individual in decision making or who may be making a decision on behalf of another using the 'best interests' principle should have undertaken training appropriate to their role. This training will be provided in conjunction with the Learning and Development team who will be providing administrative support.
- 5.2 DoLS and the Mental Capacity Act training should be completed by all clinical staff, registered and unregistered, every year. This is a universal level training.
- 5.3 MCA champions are beining implemented across the Trust and they will receive further training and attend peer groups.
- 5.5 There are no cost implications, as the training will be provided in-house.
- 5.6 The above requirements are reflected in the Learning and Development Training Needs Analysis Matrix.

### 6. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY AND MENTAL CAPACITY ACT

An Impact Needs Requirements Assessment (INRA) has been completed for this policy and no significant adverse effects have been noted. As the policy relates to people lacking capacity making their own decisions wherever possible it contributes positively towards equality and inclusion. (Appendix 7). This policy has been assessed and meets the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act 2005.

### 7. SUCCESS CRITERIA / MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE DOCUMENT

- 7.1 It is the responsibility of each service line to assure itself it has adequate processes in place to monitor the implementation of the Mental Capacity Act. The Mental Capacity Act Lead in Adult Mental Health can offer advice and support but does not perform a governance function for the Mental Capacity Act, outside of Adult Mental Health. It should be clear in each service line who has responsibility for the governance of the Mental Capacity Act and how it will be monitored.
- 7.2 Various implementation tools have been produced by the Mental Capacity Act Lead to enable the Act to be monitored. It is up to each service lines to determine how to most effectively use them.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 35 of 65

7.3 The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards will be monitored by the Mental Capacity Act/Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Governance group. Each inpatient unit will complete a quarterly audit and submit it to this group.

#### 8. **REVIEW**

This document may be reviewed at any time at the request of either staff side or management, but will automatically be reviewed three years from initial approval and thereafter every three years unless organisational changes, legislation, guidance, or non-compliance prompt an earlier review.

#### 9. REFERENCES AND LINKS TO OTHER DOCUMENTS

Dept of Health 2005 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 London, TSO on: www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2005/ukpga\_20050009\_en\_1

Dept of Health 2007 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 Code of Practice London, TSO on: www.publicguardian.gov.uk

Office of the Public Guardian www.publicguardian.gov.uk Tel: 0845 330 2900

Portsmouth City Council and Portsmouth Teaching PCT Joint Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Procedures

#### **Other Resources**

Department of Constitutional Affairs leaflets on the Act

The British Psychological Society (April 2006) Assessment of Capacity in Adults: Interim Guidance for Psychologists

The British Psychological Society: Best Interests Guidance on adults who lack capacity to make decisions for themselves [England and Wales]

Mind information on The Capacity Act 2005

Rethink information on The Capacity Act 2005

Appendices	
Appendix 1-	HCC MCA toolkit- Assessment of Capacity
Appendix 2-	HCC MCA toolkit- Best Interests Decision Making
Appendix 3-	Referring to an IMCA
Appendix 4-	Guidance on Establishing a Best Interest Meeting
Appendix 5-	DoLS Poster

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 36 of 65

Appendix 6-	Auditing Standard
Appendix 7-	Equality Analysis and Equality Impact Assessment

#### Appendix 1 Hampshire Mental Capacity Toolkit Part A – Assessment of Capacity - January 2014

# 5

Before the act is done, or the decision is made, regard must be had to whether the purpose for which it is needed can be as effectively achieved in a way that is less restrictive of the person's rights and freedom of action.

# 4

An act done, or decision made, under this Act for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done, or made, in his best interests.

# 3

A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision merely because he makes an unwise decision.



A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practicable steps to help him to do so have been undertaken without success.

# 1

A person must be assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity.

# Tool to assess whether an individual lacks mental capacity in relation to a specific decision.



recognised in law so must remain.

Page 38 of 65

Person's name	
Address	
Client Ref - AIS/NHS number	
What is the decision that needs to be made? (See guidance notes in the MCA Code of	
Practice)	

What steps have been taken to help the person take the decision for themselves? (Explain how you have followed statutory principles 1 & 2) What is the key information the person needs to understand in order to make this decision?

# **ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS**

I. Is there evidence of an impairment of or disturbance in the functioning of the mind or brain (permanent or temporary) that may affect the person's ability to make the above decision?	YES Impairment is present — record symptoms /behaviours or any relevant diagnoses that lead to your belief, (see guidance notes) If YES Proceed to Q.2 below	NO Impairment is not present — record evidence for this belief. If NO the person is deemed to have capacity -assessment is ended now.
---	---	--

Questions (2a)-(2d) concern the impact of the above impairment/disturbance upon the individual and whether it prevents them from making this specific decision at the time of assessment.

<ul> <li>2a) With all possible help given is the person able to understand the information relevant to the decision?</li> <li>E.g.What is their understanding of decision in question? Can they tell you why they think the decision needs to be made? What do they think the consequences of the decision will be? See guidance notes.</li> </ul>	<b>YES - able to understand info.</b> Record views/evidence to show they understood it.	<b>NO - unable to understand</b> <b>info.</b> Record steps taken to explain info and views/evidence why they did not understand it.
b) Are they able to retain the information long enough to make the decision? See Guidance notes.	<b>YES - able to retain info.</b> record evidence.	<b>NO - unable to retain</b> <b>information</b> , record any help given and evidence.
<ul> <li>c) Are they able to weigh the information as part of the decision making process?</li> <li>Are they able to understand the consequences of making or not making the decision?</li> <li>See guidance notes.</li> </ul>	YES - able to weigh information, record evidence.	<b>NO - unable to weigh info</b> record evidence.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy - v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 40 of 65

d) Are they able to communicate the decision in any way? There may be many methods to communicate and assistance may be required.	<b>YES - able to communicate</b> , record evidence.	<b>NO - unable to communicate</b> , record evidence.
Date of assessment		

How was the assessment
completed? Who was present,
where did it happen?

What is your professional relationship to the person being assessed?

Please indicate professional qualifications and/or the reason why you are the appropriate person to assess capacity in this instance

**Conclusion** - If the answer to question I. is YES and the answer to any part of question 2. a) - d) is NO then the person lacks capacity under the Mental Capacity Act (2005).

**Fluctuating capacity:** Always consider whether the person has fluctuating capacity and whether the decision can wait until capacity returns. If this is the case, explain and enter reassessment date in outcome below.

Outcome:

Decision maker/ assessor signature:

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 41 of 65

# Appendix 2 Hampshire Mental Capacity Toolkit

#### Part B - Best Interests Decision Making - January 2014

# 5

Before the act is done, or the decision is made, regard must be had to whether the purpose for which it is needed can be as effectively achieved in a way that is less restrictive of the person's rights and freedom of action.

## 4

An act done, or decision made, under this Act for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done, or made, in his best interests.

# 3

A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision merely because he makes an unwise decision.

# 2

A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practicable steps to help him to do so have been undertaken without success.

# 1

A person must be assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity.



Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5 Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 42 of 65

Person's name	
Address	
Client Ref - AIS/NHS number	
Decision being consulted upon.	,

**Details of the assessment of capacity in relation to the above decision** (Date carried out/ assessor/where a copy of the assessment can be found)

# Specify the different options that are being considered

١.

2.

3.

<b>Best Interests</b>	<b>Consultation -</b>	Service	User
-----------------------	-----------------------	---------	------

Consultation with the person lacking capacity	Supporting evidence (record here or note here where the information is recorded on their case file/AIS etc)
What are the issues that are most relevant to the person who lacks capacity?	
Specify their past and present wishes, feelings and concerns in relation to this decision.	

What are the person's values and beliefs (eg. religious, cultural, moral) in relation to this decision?	
Does the person have any previously held instructions (eg. advance decisions) relevant	
to this decision? Give details	
Are there any other "relevant circumstances"	
that should be taken into account in this case?	

# Best Interests Consultation - Relevant parties

Checklist of persons	Details
Anyone named by the person lacking capacity as someone to be consulted (state name and relationship)	
Anyone engaged in caring for the person or interested in their welfare (state name and relationship)	
Any attorney appointed under an enduring or lasting power of attorney (state name and what kind of power has been donated i.e. EPA; LPA Property and Affairs; LPA Health and Welfare)	
Any deputy appointed by the Court of Protection (state name and the nature of the Court Order)	

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 45 of 65

Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCA)
Where the person lacking capacity has nobody in the above 4 categories other than paid carers, and faces a decision about serious medical treatment or a change of residence, you will need to refer the person to the IMCA service in the area where they are currently residing (state name and which IMCA service)

# **Best Interests Consultation - Relevant parties (1)**

Name:	Date:

#### Views:

# **Best Interests Consultation - Relevant parties (2)**

Name:	Date:
Views:	

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5

Consideration had been given to the use of "him" and "his" in this policy, for the Trust to be gender neutral, but these are terms recognised in law so must remain. Page 46 of 65

# **Best Interests Consultation - Relevant parties (3)**

Name:	Date:					

Views:

# **Best Interests Consultation - Other relevant parties**

Name(s)/Date(s)/Views:

## **Best Interests Decision**

Specify the option that is considered to be in the individual's best interests.	
Specify why this is the preferred option, including key benefits to the individual.	

Please give details of why other options listed were not considered to be in the individual's best interests. Please include details of any option that was not chosen because it was unlikely it could be successfully implemented.	
	anybody who was consulted please give details. Please include details of any etion will be taken to try and resolve the dispute.
Decision maker:	Date:
Manager: (if appropriate)	Date:



## Referring to an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCA)

The following criteria must apply:

The patient must be eligible for an advocate under the MCA: (IMCA's do not provide general advocacy)

- Lack capacity (as assessed using the above guidance)
- Be 'unbefriended' i.e. there is no one available with whom it is appropriate to consult regarding the patient's wishes.

The patient must be in need of advocacy for one of the following reasons

- For serious medical treatment
- For NHS organised changes of residence lasting over 28 days (including hospital stays).
- For local authority organised changes of residence lasting over 8 weeks

An IMCA *may* be instructed to support someone who lacks capacity to make decisions concerning:

- Care reviews, where no-one else is available to be consulted
- Adult protection cases, whether or not family, friends or others are involved

You will be required to fill in a referral form, which will be provided to you by the IMCA service or can be downloaded from www.seap.org.uk.

The IMCA will visit and spend some time with the person who needs to make the decision. They may need to visit more than once, and it is important that the decision-maker communicates the exact nature and urgency of the decision in order that they can work effectively. They will then give an opinion to the decision maker.

The Portsmouth IMCA service is run by Solent Mind. Information about referrals can be found on their website: http://www.solentmind.org.uk/content/portsmouth-advocacy

Phone 023 8020 8955

For patients resident in Southampton the IMCA service can be referred to by phoning 023 8020 8951, emailing <u>info@hampshireadvocacy.org.uk</u> or via their website: http://www.solentmind.org.uk/content/mental-health-advocacy-and-imca-hampshire

If you believe a patient is eligible and in need you are legally required to contact the IMCA service.



#### Guidance on organising a best interest meeting

- A best interest meeting is called in consultation with the case holding clinician and their manager. In the most serious of cases this may involve senior managers from the organisation. Other services are requested to provide appropriate representation.
- 2) If it has not already been agreed, then at the meeting, it will be agreed which service will be the lead and take on the chairing role.
- 3) The best interest meeting must ensure itself that it is satisfied with the capacity assessments each agency and individual is responsible for bringing to it.
- 4) The group is responsible for following a 'best interest' decision making process. This includes; involving the patient and family and deciding on the weight to be given to their views, ensuring that any restrictions on the patient are necessary and proportionate to the likelihood and seriousness of harm they are at risk of and that there is appropriate authorisation for any intrusive or coercive acts with regard to the service user and or family. The chair is responsible for ensuring that the proper process is followed and this is clearly recorded.
- 5) The meeting is then responsible for agreeing any further delegation of responsibility in terms of formulating, enacting, monitoring and reporting on the best interest plan.
- 6) Certain functions can be brought to the group for advice but not delegated. For example, IMCA responsibilities, applying for DoLS authorisations, applications to the Court of Protection.
- 7) The group must agree time scales in which it will meet to review its plans. This should continue until it is agreed by the group that it no longer needs to meet.
- 8) If safeguarding is involved, the meeting must agree its relationship to the safeguarding process. This should include how the safeguarding meeting will be kept informed, and how and when further safeguarding meetings will be called, if none are planned. This will depend on how the safeguarding team are represented in the best interest meeting, the nature and degree of concerns and their likely resolution.

#### **Best Interest Meetings**

#### Introduction

When a person lacks the mental capacity to make a specific decision at a specific time then a 'decision maker' has to decide what is in their best interest. Who the decision maker is will depend on the decision to be made; it could be an informal carer or a professional. If there is an attorney (under a lasting power of attorney) or a court appointed deputy, who has the authority to make the decision or consent to the intervention, then they will be the decision maker; if not, it is the person who is directing the intervention. What the person has to consider and who they have to consult is set out in section 4 of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. If it is a significant decision then their duties can be discharged through a meeting. The meeting can also offer them support in making the decision.

Whenever any meeting is making decisions on behalf of a person who lacks capacity to make the specific decision at that time then the decision maker will need to be identified and they will need to ensure that the process followed in making the decision meets the requirements of the Mental Capacity Act. Following this guidance will ensure this.

#### Planning the meeting

**Decisions to be made**: Ensure that these are best interest decisions that can be made under the Act<sup>4</sup> and that they are not ones a court has to make<sup>5</sup>. Do they or are they likely to involve a deprivation of liberty? What are the decisions? Who are the decision makers?

Capacity Assessment: Who is responsible for the capacity assessment or assessments?

**Involving the person and interested parties**: How is the person to be involved? How are their wishes and feelings to be represented? In particular:

S4(6)

(a) the person's past and present wishes and feelings (and, in particular, any relevant written statement made by him when he had capacity);

(b) the beliefs and values that would be likely to influence his decision if he had capacity; and

(c) the other factors that he would be likely to consider if he were able to do so.

Who else is to be involved in the meeting? In particular:

S4 (7)

(a) anyone named by the person is someone to be consulted on the matter in question or on matters of that kind;

(b) anyone engaged in caring for the person or interested in his welfare; (c) any done of a power of attorney granted by the person;

(d) any deputy appointed for the person by the Court;

as to what would be in the person's best interests

Will the person attend all the meeting or only part? Do they need an advocate or supporter? If they will not attend how will their views be identified and represented? How will the group remain mindful of their views, wishes and feelings?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Deprivation of Liberty and Mental Capacity Act Policy, paragraph 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Deprivation of Liberty and Mental Capacity Act Policy. Paragraph 3.10

**Safeguarding**: Are there any safeguarding issues and how do they affect the way the meeting is to be structured. Are there issues that must be addressed or information that cannot be discussed? Is their dispute with the family? What steps have or can be taken to resolve this? Does it need to be brought before the Court of Protection?

**Chair and recording**: Who will chair the meeting? Who will minute the meeting and how will these be shared? Will the Best interest form be used to record the decision making process?

**Venue and process**: Where is the meeting to be held? Is this accessible by the person and family? Will the meeting be in two parts or one? Is there a need to have breaks in the meeting?

**Background to the decision**: Who will brief the meeting of the person's background, the context and the decision to be made? How will they ensure the person's understanding, wishes and feelings are represented?

**Invitations**: These should include a leaflet explaining best interest meetings.

#### Meeting Agenda

The starting point is the person's views, wishes and feelings. The agenda should therefore be flexible to allow them to appropriately share these with the group. Before the meeting starts it should be clear how this will be done.

- 1) Introduction. Introductions. Remind the group:
  - a. of the decision to be made
  - b. of the five statutory principles
  - c. the duties under the MCA and article 8 to fully involve the person the decision is about: taking into account their views as much as is possible, safe and practicable. That these views are important but not binding. That the process of how these views are considered and how the decision will be carried out is as important as the decision made,
  - d. that the meeting will take into account these and professionals views, identify the relevant circumstances, consider the positives and negatives of each, then decide which one is in the person's best interest and the least restrictive way to carry it out.
  - e. Finally, the group will agree a practical plan of who does what, a contingency plan and if and when further meetings are required.
- 2) **Capacity Assessments**: Confirm that capacity assessments have been completed for the specific issues and who is responsible for them. Confirm who the decision makers are.
- 3) **Background**: A group member gives a background to the person, the decision to be made and its context. This should include a brief history of the person, any diagnosis, prognosis, the reason for the decision, what has already been tried, any current plans, the person's view on these, any areas of disagreement and any safeguarding issues that need to be addressed.
- 4) **Possible options**: The chair should ask the group to identify the possible options. These should be recorded.
- 5) **Family and person's views**: The family should be invited to give their views and wishes, if they have not already done so. The group should be reminded of the person's views, wishes and feelings.
- 6) **Group update and views**: Each person should give their understanding of the context, decision and issues to be considered, from their perspective.
- 7) **Discussion:** The chair should ask the group to identify the positive and negatives of each option and the relevant importance of the pros and cons of each option. These should be recorded.
- 8) **Decision:** The group should decide what the 'best interest' option is. The reason for the decision should be recorded; in particular:
  - a. If the proposed option entails risks or disadvantages to P, reasons why these are thought to be outweighed and steps to be taken to minimise them
  - b. Any form of restraint involved should be identified and it recorded how this is proportionate to the likelihood and seriousness of harm it is seeking to prevent and how it will be kept to a minimum.
  - c. It should be recorded if anything in the plan indicates a deprivation of liberty or the involvement of the court will be needed to resolve a dispute or determine an issue only it has the authority to; if none of these are relevant, this should be recorded.
  - d. A contingency plan if the option does not succeed.
- 9) **The Plan**: The practicalities of how the plan will be carried out should be agreed: by when, by whom, in what way and how these arrangements will be reviewed. If disagreement that will undermine the plan being carried out still exists then the chair should identify the next steps to resolve this or if legal advice is needed regarding bringing the matter before the court.

# CONFIDENTIAL

# Best Interests Meeting minutes

#### Meeting name: XXXXXXX Best Interest Meeting

The meeting was held on: XXXXXXXXXXX

Present: XXXXXX Apologies:

 Item Minutes
 Action by:

 No.
 Introductions made
 initials

#### 2. Explanation of the process:

In 2005 the Mental Capacity Act was passed. It is designed to promote the rights of those who don't have the capacity, or ability, to make decisions for themselves. This meeting is a formal meeting and will be held in line with the Mental Capacity Act.

The Act has five guiding principles that have to be followed in all decision making:

- A person must be assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity.
- A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practicable steps to help them to do so have been taken without success.
- A person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision merely because they makes an unwise decision.
- An act done, or decision made, under this Act for or on behalf of a person who lacks capacity must be done, or made, in his best interests.
- Before the act is done, or the decision is made, regard must be had to whether the purpose for which it is needed can be as effectively achieved in a way that is less restrictive of the person's rights and freedom of action.

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 states that we have to presume that everyone has the capacity to make a decision unless we believe this is not the case. We are then duty bound to assess this. If the assessment concludes the person does not have the capacity we have to act in their best interests.

When assessing capacity we have to ask:

• Do they have an impairment of the mind or brain affecting the way they make decisions?

Is so:

- Does the person who seems to lack capacity have a general understanding of the decision to be made?
- Do they have a general understanding of the consequence of this decision?
- Can they remember the information long enough to make a decision?
- Can they weigh up this information and use it to make a decision?
- Can they communicate the decision?

This includes asking:

- Is there any way that they could be helped to make the decision for themselves?
- Can they be helped to communicate their decision or their wishes and feelings?
- Is the person likely to regain capacity and if so can the decision wait?

Because someone lacks capacity for one decision does not mean they lack the capacity for another decision. This meeting will therefore have to clarify the decisions or decisions to be considered.

At the same time just because a person expresses a wish does not mean to say they have the capacity to make a decision. However, if someone does not have capacity we do still have to listen to their wishes. Although not binding, their wishes should be given more weight the more consistent and persistent the person is about them and the more they understand the issues. They should also be built into the care plan as much as is sensible and practical.

To ensure the right decision is made on behalf of someone we need to gather those who know the person best and work through a clear and transparent process.

In making a decision we are bound by The Human Rights Act 1998 to act in a way compatible with people's rights under the European Convention of Human Rights. In particular we need to ensure our decisions support:

- Article 5 the right to liberty and security
- Article 8 the right to respect for private and family life.

In addition, the Mental Capacity Act in s4 sets out certain factors that have to be considered as far as is practicable. These are:

S4(6)

(a) the person's past and present wishes and feelings (and, in particular, any relevant written statement made by him when he had capacity);

(b) the beliefs and values that would be likely to influence his decision if he had capacity;

and

(c) the other factors that he would be likely to consider if he were able to do so.

The following, as far as is practicable, must also be consulted: *S4 (7)* 

(a) anyone named by the person is someone to be consulted on the matter in question or on matters of that kind;

(b) anyone engaged in caring for the person or interested in his welfare;

(c) any done of a power of attorney granted by the person;

(d) any deputy appointed for the person by the Court; as to what would be in the person's best interests.

Finally, the meeting will have to identify all the other circumstances relevant to this decision.

The meeting will look at whether XXXX has the capacity to make the decision XXXXX. If they don't have capacity, and we have to act in their best interests, then we look at the options available, the pros and cons of each option and agree what is in their best interest. The views of different people will be given different weight, depending on the importance of their relationship with the person, their knowledge of the person and the expertise they have about any specific issues. The meeting will use a scorecard balance sheet to list pros and cons of each option and also weigh the importance of each factor.

The first responsibility is to XXXX and to ensure our collective decision is believed by all to be in there best interests.

Although the group seek to reach a consensus, the decision maker remains responsible for the decision and is the person to contact if anyone has any concerns or wishes to challenge the decision.

#### 3. The decision to be considered:

\*\*\*\*\*

The Decision Maker for this is:

\*\*\*\*\*

#### 4. Capacity Assessment:

PLEASE SUMMARISE ASSESSMENT AND FINDINGS

It was therefore assessed that XXXXX does not have the capacity to make the decision being considered. There views however will be taken into full account.

#### 5. Background:

PLEASE SUMMARISE BACKGROUND CONTEXT TO THE SITUATION BEING CONSIDERED AND ALL RELEVANT FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE DECISION BEING TAKEN.

#### 6. Possible Options:

PLEASE LIST THE ALTERNATIVES THAT ARE AVAILABLE (e.g. to remain in house A, or, to move to house B, or, to move to house C, or, to find alternative placement. OR. To have a blood test under restraint, or, to have blood test under a GA, or, to not have a blood test)

#### 7. Wishes and feelings of the person and how they were involved in the process:

#### 8. Group members views and perspectives:

Is an IMCA involved? Name .....

The key elements of the decision to be made that are most significant are:

Please identify which elements are the most significant i.e. when choosing housing options it may be 1) closeness to family 2) ability to continue at same day service 3) staff are skilled at supporting people with ASC, etc.

XXXX XXXX XXXX

A balanced score card approach will be used to examine the options.

Positives	Negatives
Option A; XXXXXX	
Option B: XXXXXX	

Option etc: XXXXXX		

#### 9. Discussion of options and views:

Does everyone agree with the decision being made?

XXXXXXXXXXXX

If not, how will the disagreement be resolved?

If it cannot be, does the matter need to be brought to the Court of Protection?

#### 10. Decision made:

N.B. THIS MAY BE THAT THE DECISION IS DEFERRED UNTIL FURTHER INFORMATION IS SOUGHT OR THAT A TEMPORARY DECISION IS MADE WITH A CLOSE REVIEW DATE

If the proposed option entails risks or disadvantages to P, reasons why these are thought to be outweighed and steps to be taken to minimise them are:

11. **Plan of action:** The practicalities of how the plan will be carried out have been agreed:

Action	By Whom	By when

Do the care arrangements amount to a deprivation of liberty and if so what steps are being taken to authorise this?

#### 12. **Contingency plan**

#### 13. **Review of decision:**

Date set for: XXXXXXXX

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Mental Capacity Act Policy – v5



# Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards/ Mental Health Act 1983

Is any patient

# Under continuous supervision and control

# And

# Not free to leave

It does not matter what their disability is, whether they object or are compliant or the reason for their care.

If so these factors should be considered as a part of care planning and steps taken to ensure the restrictions are proportionate and necessary. Steps should also be taken so they are free to leave or are not under continuous supervision and control or if this cannot be avoided the deprivation of liberty must be authorised.



#### **Audit Standards**

#### Policy Title: The Deprivation of Liberty and MCA Policy

#### **Standard Statement**

Staff will follow the principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 in dealings with people who have little or no capacity to make their own decisions.

Criteria	

: All Staff have completed the universal level training provided by the Trust

- 1. An assessment of capacity is undertaken and documented in the client file for important decisions where there were concerns regarding a person's capacity.
- 2. The appropriate decision maker was chosen and who this is clearly recorded.
- 3. The assessment of capacity clearly documents what steps were taken to enable capacity. (Time of assessment, persons involved, communication needs considered).
- 4. Appropriate consultation with others occurred during the process of assessing capacity and this is clearly recorded.
- 5. Where a person lacked capacity a best interest assessment is completed and this is clearly recorded.
- 6. The best interest checklist has been considered and clearly recorded.
- 7. Referrals have been made to the Independent Mental Capacity Advocate service as required.
- 8. A copy of the patient's valid and applicable Advance Decision to Refuse Treatment is available in the case notes.
- 9. Details of Lasting Powers of Attorney are available in the case notes including contact details for the attorney, the type of LPA made (property and affairs or welfare) and the type of decision the attorney has power to make.
- 10. Any disputes concerning capacity or best interests have been resolved through following the guidance in this policy.

- 13. An application to the Court of Protection has been made for the relevant cases, as set out in this policy.
- 14. Where a person lacks capacity consideration has been given to ensure the care plan is as 'less restrictive' as possible.
- 15. When the patient lacks capacity and is receiving psychiatric treatment within a psychiatric hospital and restraint has been needed, use of The Mental Health Act 1983 has been considered.
  - a. It has been documented if the restraint was an indication of the person objecting to being in psychiatric hospital or the psychiatric treatment.
  - b. The reason for using or not using the provisions under The Mental Health Act 1983 has been recorded.
- 16. Where restrictions amount to or are likely to amount to a deprivation of liberty;
  - a. Steps have been taken to reduce this. If none can be taken this fact has been recorded.
  - b. When the patient is in a psychiatric hospital or when receiving psychiatric treatment consideration has been given to the use of the Mental Health Act 1983.
  - c. An urgent authorisation for a Deprivation of Liberty has been issued by the managing authority where necessary.
  - d. A referral has been made, where necessary, to the joint DoLS office for a standard authorisation of deprivation of liberty.

#### **Decision Making Standard Outcome Measurement**

This form is designed for the person responsible for monitoring the service standards. Any deficits in the standard must be reported to the person in charge so that corrective action can be taken. The standard will be monitored quarterly.

All staff have completed universal training in	n The	Mental Capacity Act	2005.		
	Yes		No		
An assessment of capacity is undertaken			client	file for im	portant decisions where
there were concerns regarding a person's ca	apacit	у.			
	Yes		No		N/A
The appropriate decision maker was chosen	and v	who this is clearly red	corded		
	Yes		No		N/A
The assessment of capacity clearly docum assessment, persons involved, communication			en to	enable cap	pacity. (time of
	Yes		No		N/A
Appropriate consultation with others occurr recorded.	red du	iring the process of a	ssessii	ng capacity	and this is clearly
	Yes		No		N/A
Where a person lacked capacity a best inter	est as	sessment is complet	ed and	l this is clea	rly recorded.
	Yes		No		N/A
The best interest checklist has been conside	ered a	nd clearly recorded.			
	Yes		No		N/A

Referrals have been made to the Independent Mental Capacity Advocate service as required.

·	Yes		No		N/A	
A copy of the patient's valid and applica case notes.	ble /	Advance Decision to	o Refu	ise Treatme	ent is a	available in the
·	Yes		No		N/A	
Details of Lasting Powers of Attorney are av the type of LPA made (property and affairs o						
,	Yes		No		N/A	
Any disputes concerning capacity or best interpolicy.	erest	s have been resolved	throu	gh following	g the g	uidance in this
·	Yes		No		N/A	
An application to the Court of Protection has	beer	n made for the releva	ant cas	es, as set ou	ıt in th	is policy.
	Yes		No		N/A	
Where a person lacks capacity consideration possible.	n has	been given to ensu	re the	care plan is	as 'les	s restrictive' as
·	Yes		No		N/A	
When the patient lacks capacity and is r restraint has been needed, use of The Menta					psych	iatric hospital and
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Yes		No		N/A	
It has been documented if the restraint wa hospital or the psychiatric treatment.	is an	indication of the pe	erson o	objecting to	being	in psychiatric
,	Yes		No		N/A	
The reason for using or not using the provi	sions	under The Mental	Health	Act 1983 h	as bee	en recorded.
Ň	Yes		No		N/A	

Where restrictions amount to or are likely to amount to a deprivation of liberty, steps have been taken to reduce this. If none can be taken this fact has been recorded.

	Yes		No		N/A	
When the patient is in a psychiatric hospit given to the use of the Mental Health Act 19		hen receivin	g psychiatric	treatment	conside	ration has been
	Yes		No		N/A	
An urgent authorisation .for a deprivation c necessary.	of libert	y has been is	ssued by the	managing	authorit	y where
	Yes		No		N/A	
A referral has been made, where necessary of liberty.	y, to th	e joint DoLS	office for a s	tandard a	uthorisa	tion of deprivatior
	Yes		No		N/A	
Please explain any discrepancies:	••••					
	•••••				•	
	•••••		••••••		•	
	•••••					
	•••••				•	



#### Appendix 7

#### Equality Analysis and Equality Impact Assessment

**Equality Analysis** is a way of considering the potential impact on different groups protected from discrimination by the Equality Act 2010. It is a legal requirement that places a duty on public sector organisations (The Public Sector Equality Duty) to integrate consideration of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion into their day-to-day business. The Equality Duty has 3 aims, it requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to:

- **eliminate unlawful discrimination**, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act of 2010;
- advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not;
- **foster good relations** between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not.

**Equality Impact Assessment** (EIA) is a tool for examining the main functions and policies of an organisation to see whether they have the potential to affect people differently. Their purpose is to identify and address existing or potential inequalities, resulting from policy and practice development. Ideally, EIAs should cover all the strands of diversity and Inclusion. It will help us better understand its functions and the way decisions are made by:

- considering the current situation
- deciding the aims and intended outcomes of a function or policy
- considering what evidence there is to support the decision and identifying any gaps
- ensuring it is an informed decision

#### Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

#### Step 1: Scoping and Identifying the Aims

Service Line / Department	MHA/MCA Lead		
Title of Change:	Review – Change to recordings		
What are you completing this EIA for? (Please select):	Policy review	(If other please specify here)	
What are the main aims / objectives of the changes	To ensure compliance with the MCA/DOLS		

#### Step 2: Assessing the Impact

Please use the drop-down feature to detail any positive or negative impacts of this document /policy on patients in the drop-down box below. If there is no impact, please select "not applicable":

Protected	Positive	Negative	Not	Action to address negative impact:
Characteristic	Impact(s)	Impact(s)	applicable	(e.g. adjustment to the policy)
Sex			Х	
Gender reassignment			Х	
Disability			х	

Age		Х	
Sexual Orientation		Х	
Pregnancy and maternity		Х	
Marriage and civil partnership		Х	
Religion or belief		Х	
Race		Х	

If you answer yes to any of the following, you MUST complete the evidence column explaining what information you have considered which has led you to reach this decision.

Assessment Questions	Yes / No	Please document evidence / any mitigations
In consideration of your document		This was during the Covid-19 pandemic so unable
development, did you consult with		to progress in this manner.
others, for example, external	No	
organisations, service users, carers		
or other voluntary sector groups?)		
Have you taken into consideration		Consideration to standards for healthcare
any regulations, professional	Yes	professionals working for the Trust.
standards?		

Step 3: Review, Risk and Action Plans

How would you rate the overall level of impact	Low	Medium	High
/ risk to the organisation if no action taken?	Х		
What action needs to be taken to reduce or eliminate the negative impact?	5 5		
Who will be responsible for monitoring and regular review of the document / policy?	MHA/MCA lead		

Step 4: Authorisation and sign off

I am satisfied that all available evidence has been accurately assessed for any potential impact on patients and groups with protected characteristics in the scope of this project / change / policy / procedure / practice / activity. Mitigation, where appropriate has been identified and dealt with accordingly.

iality Elliot Wyld Date:	quality	Equ
essor:	ssessor:	Asse

#### **Additional guidance**

Prot	ected characteristic	Who to Consider	Example issues to consider	Further guidance
1.	Disability	A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long term effect on that person's ability to carry out normal day today activities. Includes mobility, sight, speech and language, mental health, HIV, multiple sclerosis, cancer	<ul> <li>Accessibility</li> <li>Communication formats (visual &amp; auditory)</li> <li>Reasonable adjustments.</li> <li>Vulnerable to harassment and hate crime.</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent Disability Resource Group
2.	Sex	A man or woman	<ul> <li>Caring responsibilities</li> <li>Domestic Violence</li> <li>Equal pay</li> <li>Under (over) representation</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent HR Team
3	Race	Refers to an individual or group of people defined by their race, colour, and nationality (including citizenship) ethnic or national origins.	<ul> <li>Communication</li> <li>Language</li> <li>Cultural traditions</li> <li>Customs</li> <li>Harassment and hate crime</li> <li>"Romany Gypsies and Irish Travellers", are protected from discrimination under the 'Race' protected characteristic</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: BAME Resource Group
4	Age	Refers to a person belonging to a particular age range of ages (eg, 18-30 year olds) Equality Act legislation defines age as 18 years and above	<ul> <li>Assumptions based on the age range</li> <li>Capabilities &amp; experience</li> <li>Access to services technology skills/knowledge</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent HR Team
5	Gender Reassignment	"The expression of gender characteristics that are not stereotypically associated with ones sex at birth" World Professional Association Transgender Health 2011	<ul> <li>Tran's people should be accommodated according to their presentation, the way they dress, the name or pronouns that they currently use.</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent LGBT+ Resource Group
6	Sexual Orientation	Whether a person's attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or both sexes.	<ul> <li>Lifestyle</li> <li>Family</li> <li>Partners</li> <li>Vulnerable to harassment and hate crime</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent LGBT+ Resource Group
7	Religion and/or belief	Religion has the meaning usually given to it but belief includes religious and philosophical beliefs, including lack of belief (e.g Atheism). Generally, a belief should affect your life choices or the way you live for it to be included in the definition. (Excludes political beliefs)	<ul> <li>Disrespect and lack of awareness</li> <li>Religious significance dates/events</li> <li>Space for worship or reflection</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent Multi-Faith Resource Group Solent Chaplain
8	Marriage	Marriage has the same effect in relation to same sex couples as it has in relation to opposite sex couples under English law.	<ul> <li>Pensions</li> <li>Childcare</li> <li>Flexible working</li> <li>Adoption leave</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent HR Team
9	Pregnancy and Maternity	Pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or expecting a baby. Maternity refers to the period after the birth and is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth.	<ul> <li>Employment rights during pregnancy and post pregnancy</li> <li>Treating a woman unfavourably because she is breastfeeding</li> <li>Childcare responsibilities</li> <li>Flexibility</li> </ul>	Further guidance can be sought from: Solent HR team